

THS

LIBRARY Michigan State University

This is to certify that the thesis entitled

RISK FACTORS FOR SEVERE WORK-RELATED NOISE-INDUCED HEARING LOSS

presented by

Amy Sue Sims

has been accepted towards fulfillment of the requirements for the

M.S. degree in Epidemiology

Major Professor's Signature

12/2/09

Date

MSU is an Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Employer

PLACE IN RETURN BOX to remove this checkout from your record.

TO AVOID FINES return on or before date due.

MAY BE RECALLED with earlier due date if requested.

DATE DUE	DATE DUE	DATE DUE
		
	,	

5/08 K:/Proj/Acc&Pres/CIRC/DateDue.indd

RISK FACTORS FOR SEVERE WORK-RELATED NOISE-INDUCED HEARING LOSS

Ву

Amy Sue Sims

A THESIS

Submitted to
Michigan State University
in partial fulfillment of the requirements
for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Epidemiology

2009

ABSTRACT

RISK FACTORS FOR SEVERE WORK-RELATED NOISE-INDUCED HEARING LOSS

By

Amy Sue Sims

This cross-sectional study describes individuals (n=5,758) with work-related noise-induced hearing Loss (NIHL) in Michigan who were reported by health care professionals to the Michigan Department of Energy Labor and Economic Growth from 2003 to 2006 under the Michigan Public Health Code of 1978. Participants confirmed with work-related NIHL were classified into three groups based on audiometric results:

1) bilateral or 2) unilateral material hearing impairment and 3) non-material hearing impairment (reference group) as defined by the Occupational Safety and Health Administration. In the multivariate analyses, risk factors for each group were examined.

Overall, 33% of individuals had bilateral and 27% had unilateral material hearing impairment, while 40% had non-material hearing impairment. The three level outcome was analyzed by multinomial regression using the non-material hearing impairment group as the reference response. Older age, military service, and lack of use of hearing protective devices were statistically significant risk factors for material hearing impairment in the multivariate analysis.

This study provides evidence that the use of hearing protective devices reduces the severity of hearing loss and that noise exposure in the military is a significant contributor to severe hearing loss. The study supports the need for preventive health measures to reduce exposure to noise both in industry and the military.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge the following people for helping me to complete this work. First, to my thesis committee chair, Dr. Ken Rosenman, I would like to express my gratitude to you for encouraging me to pursue an advanced degree, and mentoring me throughout the graduate program and this work. Without your support, completion of this work would not have been possible, thank you.

Next, to my other committee members Dr. Joseph Gardiner and Dr. Ellen Velie, I would like to thank you both for your valuable time and contributions of insightful suggestions and critiques to help guide this work to be more complete.

I would also like to extend my appreciation to my colleagues in the Division of Occupational and Environmental Medicine and in the Biomedical Research and Informatics Core. Your support during this process has been uplifting and greatly appreciated.

I would also like to acknowledge the faculty and staff in the Department of Epidemiology. Your contributions to the graduate program have manifested in the completion of this work.

Finally, I would like to recognize my family and friends and tell you how grateful I am for your unwavering support during this long journey. It is because of your unrelenting encouragement that this work came to completion. To you all, I am forever grateful, thank you.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	viii
ABBREVIATIONS	X
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	
1.1 Overview	2
CHAPTER 2: BACKGROUND	
2.1 Diagnosis of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss 2.2 Risk Factors for Hearing Loss 2.2.1 Age, Race, and Gender. 2.2.2 Cigarette Smoking. 2.2.3 High Blood Pressure 2.2.4 High Cholesterol. 2.2.5 Diabetes 2.2.6 Pain Medication Use 2.3 Risk Factors for Noise-Induced Hearing Loss 2.3.1 Noise Exposure 2.3.2 Industrial Exposure to Chemicals, Solvents or Lead 2.3.3 Employer Based Hearing Conservation Program. 2.3.4 Exposure to Leisure Noise 2.4 Prevalence 2.5 Treatment and Prevention	6 6 7 8 9 10 11 11 12 14 15
CHAPTER 3: METHODS	
3.1 Michigan Work-Related Noise-Induced Hearing Loss Surveillance System	16
3.2 Sample Characteristics 3.2.1 Description of Sample	18
3.3 Definition of Outcome, Covariates, and Other Variables of Interest 3.3.1 Outcome	19
3.3.1.1 Work-Related Noise-Induced Hearing Loss	20
3.3.2.1 Age 3.3.2.2 Race	

	20
3.3.2.4 Health History	
3.3.2.5 Pain Medication Use	21
3.3.2.6 Smoking	21
3.3.2.7 Type of Industry	22
3.3.2.8 Duration of Work-Related Noise Exposure	22
3.3.2.9 Regular Hearing Testing	22
3.3.2.10 Hearing Protective Devices and Type	23
3.3.2.11 Chemical or Solvent Exposure	
3.3.2.12 Non-Work Noise Exposures	24
3.3.3 Other Variables of Interest	24
3.3.3.1 Health Care Provider Diagnosis of Hearing Loss	24
3.3.3.2 Tinnitus	
3.3.3.3 Company Size	
3.3.3.4 Noisy Every Day	
3.3.3.5 Noisy All Day	
3.3.3.6 Hearing Test on Hire	
3.3.3.7 Injuries at Work	
3.4 Statistical Analysis	
3.4.1 Software Used in Analysis	
3.4.2 Data Analysis	
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS	
4.1 Results	
4.1.1 Gender, Age, and Race	29
4.1.1 Gender, Age, and Race4.1.2 Company Health Care Provider	29 30
4.1.1 Gender, Age, and Race4.1.2 Company Health Care Provider4.1.3 Cigarette Smoking	29 30 31
4.1.1 Gender, Age, and Race	29 30 31
4.1.1 Gender, Age, and Race	29 30 31 31
4.1.1 Gender, Age, and Race	29 31 31 32
4.1.1 Gender, Age, and Race	29 31 31 32 32
4.1.1 Gender, Age, and Race	29 31 31 32 32
4.1.1 Gender, Age, and Race	29 31 31 32 32 33
4.1.1 Gender, Age, and Race	29 30 31 32 33 33
4.1.1 Gender, Age, and Race	29 30 31 32 33 33 34 34
4.1.1 Gender, Age, and Race	29 31 31 32 33 33 34 34
4.1.1 Gender, Age, and Race 4.1.2 Company Health Care Provider 4.1.3 Cigarette Smoking 4.1.4 Doctor Told Status 4.1.5 Tinnitus 4.1.6 Health Related Conditions and Pain Medication Use 4.1.7 Military Service 4.1.8 Duration Work-Related Noise Exposure 4.1.9 Industry 4.1.10 Company Size 4.1.11 Work-Related Noise Exposure Intensity 4.1.12 Company Hearing Testing 4.1.13 Hearing Protective Device and Type Used	29 30 31 32 33 33 34 35 36
4.1.1 Gender, Age, and Race 4.1.2 Company Health Care Provider 4.1.3 Cigarette Smoking 4.1.4 Doctor Told Status 4.1.5 Tinnitus 4.1.6 Health Related Conditions and Pain Medication Use 4.1.7 Military Service 4.1.8 Duration Work-Related Noise Exposure 4.1.9 Industry 4.1.10 Company Size 4.1.11 Work-Related Noise Exposure Intensity 4.1.12 Company Hearing Testing 4.1.13 Hearing Protective Device and Type Used 4.1.14 Work-Related Injuries	29 30 31 32 33 33 34 35 36
 4.1.1 Gender, Age, and Race 4.1.2 Company Health Care Provider 4.1.3 Cigarette Smoking 4.1.4 Doctor Told Status 4.1.5 Tinnitus 4.1.6 Health Related Conditions and Pain Medication Use 4.1.7 Military Service 4.1.8 Duration Work-Related Noise Exposure 4.1.9 Industry 4.1.10 Company Size 4.1.11 Work-Related Noise Exposure Intensity 4.1.12 Company Hearing Testing 4.1.13 Hearing Protective Device and Type Used 4.1.14 Work-Related Injuries 4.1.15 Work-Related Exposure to Chemicals/Solvents or Heavy 	29 31 32 32 33 33 34 34 35
 4.1.1 Gender, Age, and Race	29 30 31 32 33 33 34 35 36 37
 4.1.1 Gender, Age, and Race 4.1.2 Company Health Care Provider 4.1.3 Cigarette Smoking 4.1.4 Doctor Told Status 4.1.5 Tinnitus 4.1.6 Health Related Conditions and Pain Medication Use 4.1.7 Military Service 4.1.8 Duration Work-Related Noise Exposure 4.1.9 Industry 4.1.10 Company Size 4.1.11 Work-Related Noise Exposure Intensity 4.1.12 Company Hearing Testing 4.1.13 Hearing Protective Device and Type Used 4.1.14 Work-Related Injuries 4.1.15 Work-Related Exposure to Chemicals/Solvents or Heavy 	29313233333434353637

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

5.1 Discussion	
5.2 Limitations	47
5.3 Conclusions	49
BIBLIOGRAPHY	75

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Comparison of Interviewed Participants with Audiogram Results and Interviewed Participants with Missing Audiogram Results in Michigan, 2003-2006
Table 2: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Gender of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006
Table 3: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Age Group of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-200653
Table 4: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Race of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006
Table 5: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Source of Report of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006
Table 6: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Smoking Status of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006
Table 7: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Impairment by Doctor Told Status of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006
Table 8: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Self-Report of Tinnitus of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-200658
Table 9: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Presence of Health-Related Conditions of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006
Table 10: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Military Service Status of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-200660
Table 11: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Duration of Occupational Noise Exposure of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006
Table 12: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Industrial Sectors of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006

Table 13: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Company Size of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006
Table 14: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Daily Occupational Noise Exposure Status of All Interviewed
Participants, 2003-2006
Table 15: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Continuous Occupational Noise Exposure Status of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006
Table 16: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Pre-Employment Hearing Test of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006
Table 17: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Regular Hearing Testing of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-200667
Table 18: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Company Provision of Hearing Protective Device (HPD) of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006
Table 19: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Type of Hearing Protective Device (HPD) Used of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006
Table 20: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Work-Related Injures of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-200670
Table 21: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Work-Related Chemical or Solvent Exposure of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006
Table 22: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Non-Work Noise Exposures of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006
Table 23: Adjusted Odds Ratios for Material Hearing Impairment Compared to Non-Material Hearing Impairment by Selected Demographic and Health-Related Characteristics in Michigan of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006 73

ABBREVIATIONS

AOR- Adjusted odds ratio

BRFSS- Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System

CDC- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

CI- Confidence interval

dB- Decibel(s)

dBA- Decibel(s), A-weighted

HCP- Hearing conservation program

HL- Hearing loss

HPD- Hearing protective device

Hz- Hertz

ICD-9- International Classification of Disease, 9th Revision

MDELEG- Michigan Department of Energy Labor and Economic Growth

MSU- Michigan State University

NHIS- National Health Interview Survey

NIHL- Noise-induced hearing loss

NIOSH- National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health

NSAIDS- Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory medications

OR- Odds ratio

OSHA- Occupational Safety and Health Administration

PEL- Permissible exposure limit

REL- Recommended exposure limit

RR- Relative risk

SIC- Standard Industrial Classification, 1987 manual

VA- Veteran's Administration

VBA- Veterans Benefits Administration

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Overview

According to the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH), nearly 30 million United States workers have daily exposures to noise at dangerous levels, above 85 decibels (NIOSH, 2008). Of those 30 million, 1 million are estimated to have work-related noise-induced hearing loss, primarily from exposures to noise in manufacturing sections (NIOSH, 1998). Noise-induced hearing loss (NIHL) is one of the most common occupational illnesses (NIOSH, 2008).

Projections to the Michigan population from national estimates, suggest that there are a large number of individuals at risk of developing work-related NIHL: 145,000 manufacturing/production workers, 27,200 blue collar workers in wholesale and retail trade, 20,700 construction workers, 12,100 workers in noisy service sectors, and 500 miners currently exposed to daily noise levels in excess of 85 decibels (NIOSH, 1998, Bureau of Labor Statistics, 1996).

The National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) reported the national prevalence rate of hearing loss was 15% in 2003 (Lethbridge-Cejku et al., 2005). Estimates of the number of individuals with hearing loss in Michigan have been derived from the 2003 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) by Stanbury et al. The BRFSS is a national telephone random-digit dialed survey administered at the state level and funded by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC, 2008). States have the option of adding select questions

to their survey. In 2003, Michigan opted to add five additional questions to the survey specifically related to hearing loss. Of the 19% of the Michigan population estimated to have hearing loss, the estimated percentage with work-related noise-induced hearing loss was 30% (Stanbury et al., 2008). Stanbury et al. applied the resulting age specific percentages from the 2003 BRFSS to the Michigan population and estimated that 1.4 million of the 10.3 million residents in Michigan have hearing loss of which 375,000 have work-related noise-induced hearing loss. Additionally, Stanbury et al. reported that noise-induced hearing loss was more likely among men, whites, those with less education, and those with incomes less than \$50,000.

Several risk factors for NIHL have been suggested. These are: age, gender, blood pressure, diabetes, high cholesterol, pain medication use, smoking, and prolonged unprotected exposure to levels of noise in excess of 85 decibels (Stanbury et al., 2008).

1.2 Hearing Loss

There are many different reasons why individuals develop hearing loss.

Hearing loss can be the result of noise, aging, infection, medications, or genetically from birth (Morioka et al., 1997). Hearing loss can be classified as traumatic hearing loss or sensorineural hearing loss (Morioka et al., 1997).

Traumatic hearing loss can be further refined as acute acoustic trauma or acute acoustic sensorineural hearing loss (Morioka et al., 1997). Acute acoustic trauma hearing loss is hearing loss that occurs after sudden unexpected intensive noise

exposures in the range of 125-130 decibels (Morioka et al., 1997). Acute acoustic sensorineural hearing loss, sometimes described as "disco hearing loss," is hearing loss that occurs after exposure to intense noise in the range of 100-120 decibels (Morioka et al., 1997). Noise-induced hearing loss is a sensorineural hearing loss and is described as damage to the cochlea of the inner ear from chronic noise exposures in excess of 85 decibels (Morioka et al., 1997).

1.3 Rationale and Study Aim

This study will examine individuals with work-related noise-induced hearing loss in Michigan who were reported to the Michigan Department of Energy Labor and Economic Growth (MDELEG) from 2003 to 2006. The specific aim of this study was to describe the general demographics, health history, health habits, workplace environment and exposures, and non work-related noise exposures in individuals who met the Occupational Safety and Health administration (OSHA) definition of material hearing impairment. Considerations for workplace environment and exposures included: industrial sectors where the participant worked the longest, most recent work exposures (i.e. lead and solvent exposures), occurrence of work-related injuries, and provision of hearing protective devices. The OSHA definition for material hearing impairment was defined as an average hearing loss equal to or greater than 25 decibels at 1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz. Individuals classified as material hearing impairment, based on their most recent audiogram, were further classified as bilateral material hearing impairment (Group A1) and unilateral material hearing

impairment (Group A2). Individuals with an average hearing loss less than 25 decibels at 1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz on their most recent audiogram were classified as non-material hearing impairment (Group B). In the multivariate analysis, Groups A1 and A2 were compared to the reference response Group B.

CHAPTER 2: BACKGROUND

2.1 Diagnosis of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss

Noise-induced hearing loss has been used synonymously with occupational hearing loss and work-related hearing loss. Noise-induced hearing loss (NIHL) is a disease that gradually develops after chronic noise exposure (Morata et al., 1995). The pathophysiological mechanism for NIHL is destruction of the hair cells of the cochlea of the inner ear. These hair cells do not regenerate resulting in permanent hearing loss (AHRF, 2008, ACOEM, 2003, Morioka et al., 1997).

The clinical diagnosis of NIHL is made by a medical professional, such as an occupational physician, an audiologist, or an otolaryngologist. In addition to audiometric testing, the evaluation should include a physical examination, a lifetime occupational history, listing all jobs where the patient was exposed to loud noise including any time spent in the armed services, a health history including health habits, and exposure to non-occupational noise related activities (ACOEM, 2003).

A common finding on an audiogram of an individual with NIHL is "notching" at 3000, 4000, or 6000 Hertz with recovery at 8000 Hertz (ACOEM, 2003). The audiometric pattern observed for NIHL contrasts that of age-related hearing loss in that the latter pattern shows a slow slope without recovery at 8000 Hertz (ACOEM, 2003). People with NIHL typically have difficulty understanding the high-pitched voices of women and children because their

voices are in the range where the characteristic "notch" occurs (AHRF, 2008).

NIHL is a preventable condition (AHRF, 2008).

2.2 Risk Factors for Hearing Loss

2.2.1 Age, Race, and Gender

The incidence and degree of hearing loss varies among groups. The causes of the variability of hearing loss are likely to be multifactorial with many factors working independently or in tandem with other factors.

Age, race, and gender are non-modifiable risk factors for hearing loss.

Age-related hearing loss, called presbycusis, is the process of decreased hearing thresholds due to the natural aging process (NIOSH, 1998). Studies of pure presbycusis have excluded participants known to have hearing loss caused by other factors (Rosenhall et al., 1995).

Phaneuf et al., 1990, discuss race in the literature from the late 1960s to the early 1980s. They discuss that while few epidemiological studies have investigated the role race plays in hearing loss, a few have investigated African Americans in comparison to whites (Phaneuf, et al., 1990). According to Phaneuf, et al., their review of an article by Lilly et al., 1977, suggested that African Americans are less susceptible to NIHL. Phaneuf et al., 1990, continue to discuss an article by Kryter et al., 1983, that suggests that the differences between African Americans and whites may be due to whites exposure to leisure time noise. In contrast, Ishii et al., 1998, found that after adjusting for years of

employment that whites had more mild hearing loss than non-whites. Race as a risk factor for hearing loss has yet to be resolved.

According to the National Institute on Deafness and Other Communication Disorders (NIDCD), men are more likely than women to experience hearing loss (www.nidcd.nih.gov). Kryter et al., 1983, suggested that women are more likely to participate in less noisy leisure activities than men.

2.2.2 Cigarette Smoking

Cigarette smoking has been suggested as a risk factor for hearing loss. One hypothesis that has been proposed to explain the effects of cigarette smoking on hearing loss is a reduction in the blood supply to the cochlea caused by arterial vasospasm (Phaneuf et al., 1990). Toppila et al., 2000, in a cross-sectional study, investigated cigarette smoking as a risk factor for 685 Finnish workers in forest, shipyard, and paper mill industries. Individuals were classified as "never smoker," "past smoker," and "current smoker" (Toppila et al., 2000). Their results showed that the group of "never smoker" had better hearing at 4000 Hz (r=0.138, p<0.001) (Toppila et al., 2000). Cruickshanks et al., 1998, found that adults that began smoking during their teenage years were more likely to have a hearing loss than non-smokers. Additionally, non-smokers exposed to secondhand smoke were also more likely to have hearing loss than non-exposed persons (Cruickshanks et al., 1998).

2.2.3 High Blood Pressure

There have been both positive and negative studies that have shown that high blood pressure increases an individual's risk of hearing loss (Dixon Ward, 1995). Conversely, some literature suggests that noise exposure is a risk factor for the development of increased blood pressure. Cross-sectional studies cannot access the temporality of the association between high blood pressure and hearing loss.

In 2002, van Kempen et al. performed a meta-analysis using 43 observational studies, published between 1970 and 1999, on the association between noise exposure and blood pressure and/or ischemic heart disease. Their meta-analysis included studies with noise exposures from both environmental and occupational sources (van Kempen et al., 2002). The results of their meta-analysis showed statistically significant results for the occupational group for each 5 decibel increase in noise exposure, the systolic blood pressure increased 0.51 mm Hg (95% CI, 0.01-1.00) and the increase in the occurrence of hypertension was 14% (95% CI, 1.01-1.29) (van Kempen et al., 2002). This review article supports the hypothesis that noise exposure is a risk factor for increased blood pressure.

The following articles investigated the hypothesis that increased blood pressure is a risk factor for hearing loss. The articles ranged in population, location, and study design. Two were case-control (Lees et al., 1979, de Moraes et al., 2006), and two were cohort studies (Ylikoski et al., 1995, Rosenhall et al., 2006). Three of the four studies focused on occupational populations in various

countries (Lees et al., 1979, Ylikoski et al., 1995, de Moraes et al., 2006) and two focused on elderly populations (Rosenhall et al., 2006 and de Moraes et al., 2006). The age ranges under consideration also varied from the Lees et al. study with individuals as young as 25 years old to Rosenhall et al. study with individuals as old as 85 years (Lees et al., 1979, Rosenhall et al., 2006).

Work by de Moraes et al. found an association between arterial blood pressure and hearing loss with an odds ratio of 1.73 (p=0.03) (de Moraes et al., 2006). Their study excluded individuals with a history of working in noisy work places and excluded individuals who had diabetes (de Moraes et al., 2006). Work by Ylikoski et al. observed a significant chi-square value of 25.4 (p<0.001) when looking at hypertension and severity of hearing loss (Ylikoski et al., 1995). These studies support the hypothesis that increased blood pressure is a risk factor for hearing loss.

2.2.4 High Cholesterol

High cholesterol may be a risk factor for hearing loss as cholesterol increases atherosclerosis, which in turn reduces the supply of oxygen to the cochlea (Chang et al., 2007). There have been inconsistencies in results of studies assessing the relationship between high cholesterol and hearing loss. Chang et al. published in 2007 the relationship between high cholesterol and noise-induced hearing loss. Their design was a case-control study of 4,071 cases of workers exposed to noise above 85 decibels during a one-year period (Chang et al., 2007). They found, after controlling for age and gender, that high

triglyceride levels were associated with NIHL (aOR=1.28, 95% CI, 1.09-1.51) and high cholesterol was not associated with NIHL (aOR=0.95, 95% CI, 0.80-1.14) (Chang et al., 2007).

Stanbury et al. published in 2008 the relationship between high cholesterol and noise-induced hearing loss. Their design was a cross-sectional study of 3,551 participants of the 2003 Michigan BRFSS survey. They found that self-reports of high cholesterol was not associated with NIHL (aOR=1.11, 95% CI, 0.74-1.67) (Stanbury et al., 2008).

2.2.5 Diabetes

Diabetes as a risk factor for hearing loss has been investigated; however, there is still debate over the results (Daniel, 2007, Maia et al., 2005, Ishii et al., 1992, Hodgson et al., 1987). One hypothesis suggests that diabetes speeds up the atherosclerotic processes and affects the blood flow to the cochlea (Ishii et al., 1992). In a study by Hodgson et al., 1987, they were unable to show an effect of diabetic status on hearing thresholds. Stanbury et al., 2008, also researched the association between NIHL and diabetes. They found that diabetes was significantly associated with NIHL (aOR=1.72, 95% CI 1.01-2.91) (Stanbury et al., 2008).

2.2.6 Pain Medication Use

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory medications (NSAIDS) can cause changes in the function of the inner hair cells of the ear leading to the

development of tinnitus (Sun et al., 2009). Tinnitus is a ringing, roaring, or buzzing sound in the ears when there is no source of noise (www.mayoclinic.com). The change in the function of the hair cells may increase an individual's susceptibility to hearing loss from noise (www.mayoclinic.com). Toppila et al., 2000, in a cross-sectional study, investigated pain medication use as a risk factor for 685 Finnish workers in forest, shipyard, and paper mill industries. Their study found that over-the-counter and prescription pain medication correlated with NIHL (r=0.118, p=0.06 and r=0.188, p=0.04, respectively) (Toppila et al., 2000).

2.3 Risk Factors for Noise-Induced Hearing Loss

2.3.1 Noise Exposure

Chronic exposure to noise above 85 decibels is a risk factor in the development of NIHL (ACOEM, 2003). Noise exposure levels can vary by industry and occupation. Certain occupations have a greater risk for asymmetrical noise exposures; such as agricultural workers, public safety workers, and military personnel due to the source of the noise and the position of the individual (ACOEM, 2003). For example, agricultural workers using farm equipment will look over their right shoulder to watch their equipment and their left ear will be turned towards the machine engine. With chronic exposures to noise in excess of 85 decibels, the rate of hearing loss is maximized within the first 10 to 15 years of such exposures and then decreases thereafter (ACOEM, 2003).

2.3.2 Industrial Exposure to Chemicals, Solvents or Lead

Chemicals, solvents, and heavy metals found in industry, such as lead, toluene, styrene, and xylene, have been associated with hearing loss (Phaneuf et al., 1990). Exposure to toxic solvents may alter the central nervous system (Johnson et al., 1995). Industries that use solvents, typically involve noisy work processes, therefore it can be difficult to distinguish between these two risk factors (Johnson et al., 1995).

Bergstrom et al., 1986, conducted a 20-year longitudinal study and found that 23% of workers in the chemical division had hearing loss compared to 5-8% of company workers not exposed to chemicals. The chemical division had lower noise levels compared to elsewhere in the plant (80-90 dBA and 95-100 dBA, respectively) (Bergstrom et al., 1986).

More recently, Rabinowitz et al., 2008, conducted a retrospective longitudinal study on the effects of solvents on hearing thresholds. Their study found a significant odds ratio (OR=1.87, 95% CI 1.22-2.89) for the association between solvent exposure and high frequency hearing loss (Rabinowitz et al., 2008).

2.3.3 Employer Based Hearing Conservation Program

The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH)
published their revised criteria for occupational noise exposure in 1998 (NIOSH,
1998). This document upheld previous recommendations on noise exposure

(NIOSH, 1998). The recommended exposure limit (REL) for occupational noise is 85 decibels over an 8-hour time-weighted average (dBA) (NIOSH, 1998). Noise levels meeting or exceeding the REL are considered to be hazardous (NIOSH, 1998). For those workers in general industry where noise levels are above 85 dBA, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) requires a Hearing Conservation Program (HCP) to be in place. Components to a HCP include: exposure assessment, engineering and administrative controls, provision and use of hearing protective devices, audiometric testing and evaluation, education, and recordkeeping (NIOSH, 1998).

For those workers in construction, noise exposures are required to be monitored and hearing protective devices must be offered when noise exposures exceed 85 dBA (Morata, 2005). In construction, there are no requirements for a comprehensive hearing conservation program that includes education and audiometric testing (Morata, 2005). Farm owners and their family members are not covered by any hearing loss prevention regulations (Morata, 2005).

The following investigation results imply that hearing conservation programs started within the last 10 to 15 years may be showing benefits (Rubak et al., 2006). In a study of 788 workers in Denmark, Rubak et al., 2006, found that overall, there was an increased risk of hearing loss among noise exposed workers (OR=1.99, 95% CI 0.91-4.34) (Rubak et al., 2006). Workers exposed to noise in excess of 20 years had a significant increased risk of hearing loss (OR=3.05, 95% CI 1.33-6.99) (Rubak et al., 2006) while workers less than 30

years of age or had engaged in noisy work within the past 10 to 15 years did not show an increased risk of hearing loss (Rubak et al., 2006).

In 2008, Davies et al. published their study of 316,476 hearing test data representing 66,130 subjects between 1979 and 1996 in British Columbia. Their study found that using hearing protection increased from 72% in 1979 to 91% in 1996 (Davies et al., 2008). They also reported that the use of hearing protective devices was associated with age; younger workers had a higher percentage of using hearing protective devices (Davies et al., 2008). The study found that there was a protective effect for risk factors whose subject's baseline tests were conducted during the later years of the study period (Davies et al., 2008). Additionally, their study found that the continuous use of hearing protective devices delayed the age of threshold shift in the univariate analysis and reduced the risk by 30% in the adjusted model (Davies et al., 2008).

2.3.4 Exposure to Leisure Noise

Leisure noise can also cause NIHL. Hearing loss from non occupational noise is called sociocusis (NIOSH, 1998). Recreational hunting, target shooting, hobbies with power tools, lawn work, motor boating and snowmobiling, and listening to loud music are sources of leisure time noise exposures (NIOSH, 1998). Limitations of studies investigating leisure time noise exposures have been related to small sample size and not considering the effects of leisure time noise exposure along with occupational noise exposure (Phaneuf et al., 1990).

2.4 Prevalence

The prevalence of NIHL is likely to be underestimated. The National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) reported the national prevalence rate of hearing loss was 15% in 2003 (Lethbridge-Cejku et al., 2005). Estimates of the number of individuals with hearing loss in Michigan have been derived from the 2003 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) by Stanbury et al., 2008. According to the results of the 2003 BRFSS, 19% of the overall Michigan population had hearing loss with loss increasing with age (Stanbury et al., 2008). Prevalence estimates from the 2003 BRFSS, indicate that 375,000 of the 1.4 million Michigan adults with a hearing loss had work-related NIHL (Stanbury et al., 2008).

2.5 Treatment and Prevention

Once the hair cells in the cochlea have been destroyed, they do not regenerate. However, while the hair cells do not regenerate, an individual may benefit from the use of a hearing aid to amplify their remaining hearing capacity.

Prevention of NIHL can be targeted via required employer hearing conservation/prevention programs and education for wearing hearing protective devices when exposed to noise in excess of 85 dBA regardless of the source of exposure.

CHAPTER 3: METHODS

3.1 Michigan Work-Related Noise-Induced Hearing Loss Surveillance System

3.1.1 Background of the NIHL Surveillance System

Since 1992, the Michigan Department of Energy Labor and Economic Growth (MDELEG) has conducted surveillance for work-related noise-induced hearing loss. The MDELEG contracted with Michigan State University, Department of Medicine to serve as its agent in conducting this state-wide surveillance.

The legal authority of the surveillance system was based on the Michigan Public Health Code as amended in 1978 (Article 368, part 56, PA 1978). This law specified that any health care professional practicing in the state that either knows or suspects that their patient may have developed their condition due to their workplace environment must report that individual to the MDELEG within ten days. The primary sources of these reports were from audiologists, otolaryngologists and other health care providers and from companies or health care professionals providing services to companies. Whether the health professional was an independent or worked for a company, both were required to send reports to the MDELEG. Since 2003, in addition to the reporting form, those health care professionals reporting noise-induced hearing loss were also required to submit the most recent audiogram on the individual being reported.

For this study, the data source was the surveillance program for work-related noise-induced hearing loss in Michigan for the calendar years 2003 to 2006. This study was approved by the Michigan State University Human Subjects Review Board.

The Known or Suspected Occupational Disease Reporting forms were received at Michigan State University via regular postal service or through a secure internet submission. On receipt of the forms, the forms were abstracted and coded by one individual. Those forms with an International Classification of Disease, 9th Revision (ICD-9) code of 388 or 389 for hearing loss were data entered into the surveillance system and those individuals were followed up by surveillance staff, as described below.

Once an individual was identified, the individual was sent a letter with information and asked if they would agree to be interviewed. A standardized telephone-administered questionnaire was used to conduct the interview by a trained interviewer. The interviewer was unaware of the participants hearing test results at the time of the interview. The standardized questionnaire included information on demographics (age, gender, and race), health history (tinnitus, blood pressure, cholesterol, and diabetes), health habits (pain medication use, and smoking status), work places where the participant was exposed to noise (type of industry, duration, intensity, provision of hearing protection devices, work-related injuries, and chemical or solvent exposures), observations about the employer's efforts to control the sources of noise, and sources of non work-related noise exposure (hunting, target shooting, snowmobiling, hobbies with

power tools, chain saw usage, listening to loud music, motor boat/jet ski usage, and lawn work with power tools). The most recent audiogram was obtained from the reporting health care provider.

3.2 Sample Characteristics

3.2.1 Description of Sample

Five thousand seven hundred fifty eight reports on individuals were submitted to the Michigan Department of Energy Labor and Economic Growth (MDELEG) during the time period for calendar years 2003 to 2006. One thousand two hundred thirty eight were submitted in 2003; 1,461 in 2004; 1,574 in 2005; and 1,485 in 2006.

For 4.9% (n=282) of participants, their audiograms were unavailable and their data was therefore excluded from further analysis as the outcome of interest was unknown. For the remaining 95.1% (n=5,476) participants, all available data was used.

Participants with unavailable audiograms were compared to those where audiograms were obtained (Table 1). Of the participants with missing audiogram results, 84.1% were male and 15.9% were female. Of the participants with audiogram results, 91.8% were male and 8.2% were female. Differences in gender were statistically significant (p<.0001, 95% CI 0.3371-0.6605). There were no differences in older versus younger participants (p=0.58, 95% CI 0.7161-1.1581). No differences were noted in race, comparing whites to non-whites (p=0.39, 95% CI 0.5146-1.2953).

3.3 Definition of Outcome, Covariates, and Other Variables of Interest

3.3.1 Outcome

3.3.1.1 Work-Related Noise-Induced Hearing Loss

Post-interview, the questionnaire and audiometric results were reviewed by an occupational physician and confirmed as work-related noise-induced hearing loss. This review was based on the case definition that was developed by Michigan State University (MSU) with the aid of the State's Advisory Committee. The case definition stated that the individual's audiometric results be consistent with noise-induced hearing loss and have a history of noise exposure at work adequate to cause hearing loss.

Participants confirmed with work-related noise-induced hearing loss were classified into three groups. The first group represented those individuals having an average hearing loss equal to or greater than 25 decibels in both ears at 1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz, hereafter referred to as Group A1. This cut point meets the Occupational Safety and Health Administration's (OSHA) definition of material hearing impairment. The second group represented those individuals having an average hearing loss equal to or greater than 25 decibels in either ear at 1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz, hereafter referred to as Group A2. The third group represented those individuals having an average hearing loss less than 25 decibels at 1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz, hereafter referred to as Group B. Classification of groups were based on the most recent audiogram results available as provided by the reporting health care provider.

3.3.2 Covariates

3.3.2.1 Age

Age was calculated using the year the participant was entered into the surveillance system minus their year of birth. Participants were then grouped into four age categories: under 45 years of age, 45-64 years, 65-74 years, and 75 years and older.

3.3.2.2 Race

Race was determined by self-report as follows:

"Q.7 How would you be classified-the choices are:

- 1. White
- 2. African American
- 3. Asian/Pacific Islander
- 4. White Hispanic
- 5. Other
- 6. Alaskan/American Indian
- 7. African American Hispanic
- 8. Other Hispanic
- 9. Don't Know"

For data analysis, groups were combined to white (response #1), African American (response #2), and Other (responses #3, #4, #5, #6, #7, and #8).

3.3.2.3 Military Service

Military service was determined by self-report as follows:

"Q.8 Did you ever serve in the military?"

Answers were coded as "1. no", "2. yes", or "9. don't know".

3.3.2.4 Health History

High blood pressure, high cholesterol, and diabetes were determined by self-report as follows:

- "Q.11 Has a health care provider told you that you have high blood pressure?
- Q.12 Has a health care provider told you that you have high cholesterol (fat) in your blood?
- Q.13 Has a health care provider told you that you have Diabetes?"

Answers were coded for all three questions as "1. no", "2. yes", "3. borderline", or "9. don't know". For data analysis, groups were combined to no (response #1) and yes (responses #2 and #3).

3.3.2.5 Pain Medication Use

Pain medication use was determined by self-report as follows:

"Q.14 Do you take pain, headache, or arthritis medicine?"

Answers were coded as "1. no", "2. yes", or "9. don't know".

3.3.2.6 Smoking

Smoking status was determined by self-report as follows:

"Q.15 Have you ever smoked cigarettes? (No means less than 4 packs of cigarettes or 12 oz. of tobacco in a lifetime)"

Answers were coded as "1. no", "2. yes", or "9. don't know".

3.3.2.7 Type of Industry

The Standard Industrial Classification (SIC), 1987 manual, was used to classify the type of industry where the participant reported working the longest. Each job was classified as: agricultural production & services (01-08), mining (10-14), construction (15-17), manufacturing (20-39), transportation and communication services (40-49), retail trade (50-59), finance, insurance & real estate (60-69), services (70-89), or public administration (91-97).

3.3.2.8 Duration of Work-Related Noise Exposure

The duration of work-related noise exposure was calculated as the total number of years worked at any noisy jobs. Participants were then grouped into three duration of noise exposure categories: less than 10 years, 10 to 19 years, and 20 years or more.

3.3.2.9 Regular Hearing Testing

Regular hearing testing was determined by self-report as follows:

"Q.16 Did the company give you a hearing test on a regular basis?"

Answers were coded as "1. no", "2. yes", or "9. don't know".

3.3.2.10 Hearing Protective Devices and Type

Provision of hearing protective devices was determined by self-report as follows:

"Q.16 Were you given hearing protection?"

Answers were coded as "1. no", "2. yes", or "9. don't know".

If participants were given hearing protection, they were also asked what type of protection was provided as follows:

"If yes, what type(s)? (circle all that apply)

- 1. Canal Caps
- 2. Custom Plugs
- 3. Foam Plugs
- 4. Pre-molded Plugs
- 5. Muffs
- 6. Other
- 9. Don't Know"

3.3.2.11 Chemical or Solvent Exposure

Exposure to chemicals or solvents was determined by self-report as follows:

- "Q.16 Were you exposed to any of the following substances at this company? (circle all that apply)
 - 1. Lead
 - 2. Toluene
 - 3. Xylene
 - 4. Acetone
 - 5. MEK
 - 6. Trichlorethylene
 - 7. Trichloroethane
 - 8. Perchloroethylene
 - 9. Styrene
 - 10. Other Solvents
 - 11. Pesticides
 - 99. Don't Know"

A response of #99 was excluded from analyses. An index variable, 'Any Chemical/Solvent Exposure', was created. When a participant had one or more exposures to chemicals or solvents, they were counted only one time in the index variable.

3.3.2.12 Non-Work Noise Exposures

Non-work noise exposure was determined by self-report as follows:

"Q.19 Do/did you do any of the following on a regular basis?

- a. Hunting
- b. Target Shooting
- c. Snowmobiling
- d. Hobby with Power Tools
- e. Chain Saw
- f. Listening to Loud Music
- g. Motor Boat/Jet Ski
- h. Lawn Work with Power Tools
- i. Other"

Answers were coded as "1. no", "2. yes", or "9. don't know". An index variable, 'Any', was created. When a participant indicated they engaged in one or more non-work noise exposures, they were counted only one time in the index variable.

3.3.3 Other Variables of Interest

3.3.3.1 Health Care Provider Diagnosis of Hearing Loss

Hearing loss diagnosis was determined by self-report as follows:

"Q.9 Did a doctor or other health care provider tell you that you had a loss in your hearing?"

Answers were coded as "1. no", "2. yes", or "9. don't know".

3.3.3.2 Tinnitus

Tinnitus, a symptom of hearing loss, was determined by self-report as follows:

"Q.10 Are you bothered by ringing, roaring, or buzzing in your ears?"

Answers were coded as "1. no", "2. yes", or "9. don't know".

3.3.3.3 Company Size

Company size was determined by self-report as follows:

"Q.16 How many people do you estimate work in a noisy area at this company?

- 1. <25
- 2. 25-100
- 3. 100-500
- 4. 500+
- 9. Unknown"

3.3.4 Noisy Every Day

Noisy every day status was determined by self-report as follows:

- "Q.16 Was it noisy every day?
 - 1. All the time
 - 2. Most of the time
 - 3. Sometimes
 - 4. Seldom
 - 5. Rarely/Never
 - 9. Don't Know"

3.3.3.5 Noisy All Day

Noisy all day status was determined by self-report as follows:

"Q.16 When it was noisy, was it noisy all day long?"

Answers were coded as "1. no", "2. yes", or "9. don't know".

3.3.3.6 Hearing Test on Hire

Hearing test at the time of hire was determined by self-report as follows:

"Q.16 Did the company give you a hearing test when you first started working there?"

Answers were coded as "1. no", "2. yes", or "9. don't know".

3.3.3.7 Injuries at Work

Occurrence of work-related injury was determined by self-report as follows:

"Q.16 Did you have any work injuries at this company that caused you to lose work for a day or more or to be assigned to restricted or light duty work for a day or more?"

Answers were coded as "1. no", "2. yes", or "9. don't know".

3.4 Statistical Analysis

3.4.1 Software Used in Analysis

All data analysis was performed using SAS statistical software package 9.1.3.

3.4.2 Data Analysis

Demographic characteristics (age, gender, and race), health history (tinnitus, blood pressure, cholesterol, and diabetes), health habits (pain medication use, and smoking status), work places where the individual was exposed to noise (type of industry, duration, intensity, provision and use of hearing protection devices, work-related injuries, and chemical or solvent exposures), and nonwork-related noise exposures (hunting, target shooting, snowmobiling, hobbies with power tools, chain saw usage, listening to loud music, motor boat/iet ski usage, and lawn work with power tools) of the sample were generated to describe and compare the characteristics of those participants in groups A1 (n=1,791), A2 (n=1,497), and B (n=2,188). All available data was used for each univariate analysis. Missing data varied by select variable. Chisquare (χ^2) values were calculated for each frequency table to determine if there were differences in the characteristics by disease group. A χ^2 value was considered significant when the two sided p value was ≤ 0.05. Select variables were retained in the multivariate analysis based on statistical significance, at the 5% level, in the univariate analysis and/or scientific knowledge.

Responses of "don't know" were recoded as missing. The rationale behind this recode was based on the uncertainty whether the participant responded to the question as "don't know" or if upon data entry of the questionnaire, the response was truly missing and the data entry staff entered a response of "don't know" to close out the question.

In the multivariate analyses, the study outcome was classified as bilateral material hearing impairment (Group A1, n=437), unilateral material hearing impairment (Group A2, n=327), and non-material hearing impairment (Group B, n=438). This three level outcome was analyzed by multinomial regression using the non-material hearing impairment group (Group B) as the reference response. The multinomial model models the logarithm of the ratio of the probability of response Group A1 divided by the probability of response Group B. In addition, a second logarithm of the ratio of the probability of response Group A2 divided by the probability of response Group A2 divided by the probability of response Group B is modeled. Adjusted odds ratios (AOR) were examined using all available data. The AOR was considered significant if the 95% confidence interval did not include 1.00.

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

4.1 Results

Five thousand seven hundred fifty eight reports on individuals were submitted to the Michigan Department of Energy Labor and Economic Growth (MDELEG) during the time period for calendar years 2003 to 2006. One thousand two hundred thirty eight were submitted in 2003; 1,461 in 2004; 1,574 in 2005; and 1,485 in 2006. For 4.9% (n=282) of participants, audiograms were unavailable and their data was therefore excluded from further analysis.

Overall, 60% of the participants in this sample met OSHA's definition of material hearing impairment. Of those 60%, 33% had a bilateral noise-induced hearing loss (Group A1) and 27% had a unilateral noise-induced hearing loss (Group A2). The remaining 40% had less severe hearing loss that did not meet OSHA's definition of material hearing impairment (Group B).

4.1.1 Gender, Age, and Race

Among participants, 91.8% were male and 8.2% were female (Table 2). Females made up 5.1% of the group with material hearing impairment in both ears (Group A1) compared to 11.0% in the group without material hearing impairment (Group B). The ratio of hearing loss between males and females increased with severity (94.9/5.1 versus 89.0/11.0, respectively). The difference among groups was statistically significant (χ^2 =45.98, p <.0001).

Overall the ages ranged from 18 to 96 years and included retirees. The mean age was 55 years. Participants aged 45-64 accounted for the greatest percent of noise-induced hearing loss, 64.6% (Table 3). The 18-44 age group accounted for 19.5%. The 65-74 age group accounted for 11.5%. And the over 75 age group accounted for 4.4%. Those aged 65-74 were more likely to be in Group A1 (57.2%) as compared to 23.3% in the group with material hearing impairment in either ear (Group A2) and 19.6% in Group B. Younger participants, aged 18-44, were more likely in Group B (55.4%) compared to Group A2 and Group A1 (26.6% and 17.9%, respectively). The difference among groups was statistically significant (χ^2 =564.38, p <.0001).

Thirty-five percent of all participants were white (Table 4). African Americans made up 5.9% and All Other Races made up 1.3%. Whites (38.2%) and other races (41.1%) were more likely to be in Group A1 and African Americans (44.0%) were more likely to be in Group B. For 58.2% of all participants race was missing. Whether the missing data was included or excluded, both were statistically significant (χ^2 =50.92, p <.0001 and χ^2 =11.63, p=0.02, respectively).

4.1.2 Company Health Care Provider

Reports were submitted to the MDELEG by company and non-company health care professionals. Overall, 60.9% of reports were submitted by company health care professionals (Table 5). Non-company health care professionals reported more participants in Group A1 as compared to Group B (51.2% and

33.2% respectively). Company health care professionals were more likely to report participants in Group B than non-company health care professionals (66.9% and 33.2%, respectively). For an additional 3 participants, source of report was missing. The difference among groups was statistically significant (χ^2 =161.45, p <.0001).

4.1.3 Cigarette Smoking

Twenty-three percent of all participants indicated having ever smoked (Table 6). Similar percentages were seen across the three types of noise-induced hearing loss groups. There was a slightly higher non statistically significant percentage of ever smokers in Group A1 compared to Group B (39.0% and 34.6%, respectively) with the missing data excluded (χ^2 =4.77, p=0.09). For 66.4% of participants, smoking status was missing.

4.1.4 Doctor Told Status

Twenty-five percent of all participants indicated that a doctor or other health care professional had told them they had a loss in their hearing (Table 7). A statistically significant greater percentage in Group A1 indicated being told they had a loss in their hearing (43.3%), whereas only 28.9% in Group B indicated as such. For 66.3% of participants the doctor told status was missing. Whether the missing data was included or excluded, both were statistically significant $(\chi^2=157.35, p < .0001 \text{ and } \chi^2=125.74, p < .0001, respectively).$

4.1.5 Tinnitus

Tinnitus is a symptom of hearing loss. Statistically significant more participants in Group A1 indicated that they were bothered by ringing, roaring, or buzzing in their ears (41.4%) as compared to 30.9% in Group B (Table 8). For 66.5% of participants presence of tinnitus was missing. Whether the missing data was included or excluded, both were statistically significant (χ^2 =55.81, p <.0001 and χ^2 =26.32, p <.0001, respectively).

4.1.6 Health Related Conditions and Pain Medication Use

Table 9 shows the distribution of health related conditions and use of pain medication. A statistically significant greater percentage of participants in Group A1 indicated having been told they had high blood pressure (40.9%, χ^2 =8.80, p=0.01 with missing excluded), high cholesterol (42.0%, χ^2 =12.80, p=0.00 with missing excluded), and diabetes (46.6%, χ^2 =12.55, p=0.00 with missing excluded) as compared to Group B (32.0%, 32.4%, and 28.7% respectively). Pain medication use had a statistically significant higher percentage in Group A1 as compared to Group B (40.4% and 33.1%, respectively; χ^2 =7.99, p=0.02 with missing excluded). Either presence of health related conditions or pain medication use was missing for approximately 67.0% of participants.

4.1.7 Military Service

Overall, 21.0% of participants indicated they did not spend time in military service (Table 10). More participants in Group B did not spend time in the military as compared Group A1 (41.7% and 31.8% respectively). For 66.2% of participants military service was missing. Whether the missing data was included or excluded, both were statistically significant (χ^2 =85.80, p <.0001 and χ^2 =53.60, p <.0001, respectively).

4.1.8 Duration Work-Related Noise Exposure

Overall, 59.4% of participants indicated that they had an excess of 20 years work-related noise exposure (Table 11). Nearly 30% indicated having less than 10 years of work-related noise exposure, with 10.8% having 10-19 years. Group A1 had a higher percentage of 20+ years of work-related noise exposure (65.2%) as compared to Group B (54.6%). Group B had a slightly higher percentage of <10 years of work-related noise exposure (32.5%) as compared to Group A1 (27.0%). The difference among groups was statistically significant (χ^2 =52.18, p <.0001).

4.1.9 Industry

Table 12 shows the distribution of industries where participants indicated they worked the longest number of years. Manufacturing comprised the vast majority of participants with 83.2% and then services (3.5%) and construction (2.9%). Participants working in agriculture, construction, and transportation were

more likely to be in Group A1 (55.6%, 47.2%, and 45.4% respectively). Whereas participants working in services, manufacturing, and public administration were more likely to be in Group B (55.2%, 41.0%, and 38.6% respectively). Overall, for 5.7% of participants industry was missing. Nearly 51% of participants that were missing an industry classification were in Group A1. Whether the missing data was included or excluded, both were statistically significant (χ^2 =109.46, p<.0001 and χ^2 =57.66, p<.0001, respectively).

4.1.10 Company Size

Overall 73.3% of participants indicated working for a large company of 500 or more employees (Table 13). Similar percentages were seen across the three types of noise-induced hearing loss groups for the four company size categories. Of those participants that indicated working for a larger company, they were more likely to be in Group B (42.2%) compared to Group A2 and Group A1 (28.1% and 29.7% respectively). For 19.2% of participants company size was missing. When the missing data was included the difference in groups was statistically significant (χ^2 =80.20, p <.0001). With the missing data excluded, the difference in groups was not statistically significant (χ^2 =10.46, p=0.11).

4.1.11 Work-Related Noise Exposure Intensity

To determine the work-related noise exposure intensity, participants were asked, "Was it noisy every day?" Twenty-three percent of participants indicated

the noise was "all the time" (Table 14). Another 8.3% indicated the noise was either "most of the time" or "sometimes". For those participants that indicated noise was either "seldom" or "rarely/never", they were most likely to be in Group B (43.5% and 51.5% respectively). Additionally, for those where noise intensity was missing, those participants were more likely to be in Group B (41.7%) than Group A2 (27.5%) or Group A1 (30.8%). For 67.3% of participants the measure of noise intensity was missing. When the missing data was included the difference in groups was statistically significant (χ^2 =30.34, p=0.00). With the missing data excluded, the difference in groups was not statistically significant (χ^2 =10.17, p=0.25).

Additionally, participants were asked, "When it was noisy, was it noisy all day long?" Overall, 26.9% of participants indicated it was noisy all day long (Table 15). Similar percentages were seen across the three types of noise-induced hearing loss groups. For 67.6% of participants the second measure of noise intensity was missing. When the missing data was included the difference in groups was statistically significant (χ^2 =21.89, p=0.00). With the missing data excluded, the difference in groups was not statistically significant (χ^2 =1.80, p=0.41).

4.1.12 Company Hearing Testing

To assess a company's participation in a hearing conservation program (HCP), participants were asked, "Did the company give you a hearing test when

you first started working there?" Overall, 17.3% indicated receiving a hearing test at the beginning of their employment (Table 16). Of those participants that indicated not having a hearing test at the beginning of their employment, they were more likely to be in Group A1 (44.5%) as compared to Group B (29.7%). Those participants that indicated having a hearing test or where their status was missing were more likely to be in Group B (40.5% and 41.4% respectively). For 71.9% of participants the status of the initial hearing test was missing. Whether the missing data was included or excluded, both were statistically significant $(\chi^2=46.17, p < .0001 \text{ and } \chi^2=29.00, p < .0001, respectively).$

Additionally, participants were asked, "Did the company give you a hearing test on a regular basis?" Of those participants that indicated not having regular hearing testing, they were more likely to be in Group A1 (42.2%) than Group B (32.5%) (Table 17). Of those participants where regular hearing testing was missing, they were more likely to be in Group B (41.7%). For 68.5% of participants the status of the regular hearing testing was missing. Whether the missing data was included or excluded, both were statistically significant $(\chi^2=32.69, p < .0001 \text{ and } \chi^2=9.05, p=0.01, \text{ respectively}).$

4.1.13 Hearing Protective Device and Type Used

Participants were asked about whether or not their company provided hearing protective devices (HPD). Overall, 27.6% of participants indicated their company did provide HPDs (Table 18). Participants that indicated not having been provided HPDs were more likely to be in Group A1 (49.3%) as compared to

Group B (26.8%). For 67.4% of participants provision of hearing protective device was missing. Whether the missing data was included or excluded, both were statistically significant (χ^2 =47.01, p <.0001 and χ^2 =22.74, p <.0001, respectively).

Participants were also asked what type of HPDs they were given. A non statistically significant majority of all participants indicated they were given canal caps (58.1%; χ^2 =3.64, p=0.73) (Table 19). Custom plugs and foam plugs were also provided (19.4% and 17.4% respectively). To a much lesser extent premolded plugs were provided (5.2%). These percentages were similar across all three types of noise-induced hearing loss groups. For an additional 1.1% of participants the type of hearing protective device was missing.

4.1.14 Work-Related Injuries

To assess whether or not participants had work-related injuries, they were asked, "Did you have any work injuries at this company that caused you to lose work for a day or more or to be assigned to restricted or light duty work for a day or more?" Whether the participant indicated they had work-related injuries or not, the percentages across the hearing loss groups were similar (Table 20). For those participants were their injury status was missing, they were more likely to be in Group B (41.7%). For 67.7% of participants injury status was missing. When the missing data was included there was a statistically significant difference between groups (χ^2 =23.34, p=0.00). However, when the missing data

was excluded, the difference between groups was not statistically significant $(\chi^2=2.89, p=0.24)$.

4.1.15 Work-Related Exposure to Chemicals/Solvents or Heavy Metals

Overall, a non statistically significant percentage of participants (36.8%; χ^2 =4.65, p=0.10) indicated having been exposed to a chemical or heavy metal that is potentially an ototoxin (Table 21). Where participants had indicated being exposed to chemicals/solvents and heavy metals of interest, participants were most likely to be in Group A1. For an additional 122 participants exposure to chemicals or solvents was missing.

4.1.16 Non-Work Noise Exposures

To assess noise exposure outside of the work environment, participants were asked about various activities/hobbies. Overall, a non statistically significant percentage of participants (28.3%; χ^2 =2.48, p=0.29, with missing excluded) indicated they were engaged in at least one of the activities (Table 22). Participants that indicated being exposed to noise from hunting, snowmobiling, power tools, and chain saw use were more likely to be in Group A1. Those participants that indicated listening to loud music were more likely to be in Group B (51.1%) than Group A2 (27.3%) or Group A1 (21.6%) and was statistically significant when missing data were excluded (χ^2 =43.70, p <.0001).

4.1.17 Multivariate Analysis

Select variables were retained in the multivariate analysis based on statistical significance, at the 5% level, in the univariate analysis and/or scientific knowledge. Results from the generalized logit model are presented in Table 23. Simultaneous logistic regression models were run in the generalized logit model and the non-material hearing impairment group (Group B) was the referent response. Overall, after adjusting for all other independent variables in the model, age group (p<0.0001), military service (p=0.00), and lack of provision of hearing protective devices (p=0.01) remained significantly associated with material hearing impairment compared to non-material hearing impairment.

Additionally, gender (p=0.10) and industry (p=0.07) indicated marginal influence.

Examining the regression more closely, comparing Group A1 to Group B, there were independent variables in the model with significant 95% confidence intervals. The 75+ year age group was 38.68 (95% CI 9.90-151.17) times more likely than the youngest age group (18-44 years) to have bilateral material hearing impairment. The 65-74 year age group was 12.38 (95% CI 5.72-26.82) times and the 45-64 year age group was 3.65 (95% CI 2.02-6.60) times more likely than the youngest age group to have bilateral material hearing impairment. Men were 1.94 (95% CI 1.06-3.57) times more likely than women to have bilateral material hearing impairment. Those ever serving in the military were 1.70 (95% CI 1.23-2.33) times more likely than those were not in the military to be in Group A1. Those not receiving hearing protective devices were 2.02 (95% CI 1.21-3.36) times more likely than those receiving hearing protective devices to

be in Group A1. And, those that listened to loud music were 0.63 (95% CI 0.40-0.98) times those not listening to loud music to have bilateral material hearing impairment.

Similarly, comparing Group A2 to Group B, there were independent variables in the model with significant 95% confidence intervals. The 65-74 year age group was 2.50 (95% CI 1.20-5.20) times more likely than the youngest age group (18-44 years) to have unilateral material hearing impairment. Those who were ever told they had high cholesterol were 0.72 (0.24-0.99) times those never told they had high cholesterol to be in Group A2. Those ever serving in the military were 1.43 (95% CI 1.02-2.00) times more likely than those were not in the military to be in Group A2. And, those in the services industry were 0.21 (95% CI 0.06-0.77) times those not in the services industry to have unilateral material hearing impairment.

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

5.1 Discussion

This study investigated the risk factors associated with severe work-related noise-induced hearing loss in Michigan. The study looked at individuals with work-related noise-induced hearing loss in Michigan that were submitted to the Michigan Department of Energy Labor and Economic Growth (MDELEG) from 2003 to 2006. Overall, 60% of the participants in this sample met OSHA's definition of material hearing impairment. Of those 60%, 33% had a bilateral noise-induced hearing loss (Group A1) and 27% had a unilateral noise-induced hearing loss (Group A2). The remaining 40% had less severe hearing loss that did not meet OSHA's definition of material hearing impairment (Group B).

In the multivariate analysis, comparing material hearing impairment (Group A1 and Group A2) and non-material hearing impairment (Group B), three risk factors were found to be significant for severe noise-induced hearing loss. Increasing age, military service, and lack of provision of hearing protective devices were statistically significant when controlling for other potential risk factors.

For workers in general industry where noise levels are above 85 dBA,
OSHA requires a hearing conservation program (HCP) to be in place.
Components to a HCP include: exposure assessment, engineering and
administrative controls, provision and use of hearing protective devices,
audiometric testing and evaluation, education and recordkeeping (NIOSH, 1998).

To evaluate if the participant was in a hearing conservation program, they were asked a series of questions about elements of a hearing conservation program. These questions included information such as baseline hearing testing, regular hearing testing and provision and use of hearing protective devices. For this study, hearing protective device use was not collected and therefore employer provision of hearing protective devices was considered a surrogate for hearing protective device use. In the univariate analysis, the group with the more severe noise-induced hearing loss (Group A1) was more likely to be identified from noncompany reports (51.2%) and smaller-sized companies (34.5%), although this risk did not remain in the multivariate analysis. Only 27.6% of participants indicated that their company provided hearing protective devices. Participants that indicated not having been provided with hearing protective devices were more likely to be in the more severe noise-induced hearing loss group (Group A1) as compared to those with non-material hearing impairment (Group B) (49.3% versus 26.8%, respectively). The results from the multivariate analysis estimated that those participants that were not provided hearing protective devices had a two-fold increased risk for severe bilateral noise-induced hearing loss (aOR=2.02, 95% CI 1.21-3.36) as compared to participants that were provided hearing protective devices. Additionally, the analysis of industrial sectors was consistent with the above study results. Industries less likely to have hearing conservation programs (i.e. agriculture and construction) had increased, although not statistically significant, risk of severe noise-induced hearing loss in

the univariate analysis. Industrial sectors can be surrogates for the likelihood of the presence of a hearing conservation program.

In a recent Pub Med search for "hearing conservation effectiveness," limiting results to adults aged 19 years and older, 15 studies were identified. Four of the fifteen studies identified studied hearing conservation effectiveness in military settings. In a study by Davies, et al., 2008 their investigation on the impact of hearing conservation programs found that the continuous use of hearing protective devices delayed the age of threshold shift by 2.4 years in the univariate analysis and reduced the risk by 30% in the adjusted model (RR=0.7, 95% CI 0.7-0.8) (Davies et al., 2008). Both the current study and the study by Davies et al. looked at severity of hearing loss. The current study had a three-level hearing ability outcome variable whereas the Davies et al. study had a six-level hearing ability outcome variable which also included noise exposure data and duration (Davies et al., 2008).

A study of the Finnish Defense Forces by Mrena et al., 2008 demonstrated the usefulness of hearing protective device regulations when looking at two distinct time periods; from 1984 to 1986 and 2003 to 2005. Since the inception in 1968 of regulations and guidelines for hearing protection, the Finnish Defense Forces (FDF) had revised and refined their guidelines in 1979, 1985, 1989, and in 1991 (Mrena et al., 2008). The revisions in 1979 required the use of muff-type hearing protective devices when shooting rifles in shelters and in 1985 refinements required the use of hearing protective devices when shooting live ammunition as well as blanks in shelters (Mrena et al., 2008). In

their study of military personnel, Mrena et al., found that audiograms of non-commissioned officers showed significant improvement from the first time period to the second time period. Their study also showed improvement on audiograms of officers, however, the results were not statistically significant (Mrena et al., 2008). The above studies demonstrate the success of hearing conservation programs and the use of hearing protective devices.

Axelsson and Clark have reported that among professional groups, service members have the poorest hearing (Axelsson et al., 1995). Service members use the Department of Defense Hearing Conservation Program Instructions as a guideline to preserve hearing health (DoD instruction 6055.12). The manual includes information on evaluation, documentation, education and monitoring of noise exposures for service members. Hazardous noise exposure in military settings is difficult to control and there are barriers to administrative control.

In the current study, having ever been in the military had a significant χ^2 value in the univariate analysis and remained statistically significant in the multivariate analysis. The adjusted odds ratio estimated that those ever in the military had an excess risk of having bilateral noise-induced hearing loss (Group A1: aOR=1.70, 95% CI 1.23-2.33) or an excess risk of having unilateral noise-induced hearing loss (Group A2: aOR=1.43, 95% CI 1.02-2.00) as compared to those with non-material hearing impairment (Group B). In a recent Pub Med search for "military noise-induced hearing loss," limiting results to adults aged 19 years and older, 172 studies were identified. The current study findings are

consistent with the findings of the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA) Annual Benefits Reports for fiscal year 2004 that estimated that hearing loss is the fourth leading reason for medical referral for returning veterans (Veteran's Benefits Administration Annual Benefits Reports, 2005). The VBA also estimated that over 742,000 veterans were receiving compensation for service-connected auditory disability in fiscal year 2004 (Veteran's Benefits Administration Annual Benefits Reports, 2005).

The Institute of Medicine of the National Academies published a comprehensive book in 2006 called Noise and Military Service Implications for Hearing Loss and Tinnitus. The Institute was charged by the Veteran's Administration (VA) to examine noise hazards in the military and provide guidelines for whether veterans hearing disability is a result of time spent in the service (Institute of Medicine of the National Academies, 2006). The Institute concluded that the current state of the hearing conservation programs in the United States military services from World War II to 2006 have been inadequate (Institute of Medicine of the National Academies, 2006).

Age is a nonmodifiable risk factor for hearing loss. Age had a significant χ^2 value in the univariate analysis and remained statistically significant in the multivariate analysis. These study results are consistent with the literature.

In the current study, several potential risk factors in the multivariate analysis did not retain their statistically significant χ^2 values from the univariate analysis. These risk factors were male gender, race, high blood pressure, cholesterol, diabetes, pain medication use, smoking status, industry sector,

duration of noise exposure at work, regular hearing testing at work, ototoxin exposure, and listening to loud music. It is reasonable that the health related conditions (i.e., high blood pressure, cholesterol, and diabetes) were no longer statistically significant in the multivariate analysis when controlling for age as the risk for these conditions also increase with age. Gender had a significant γ^2 value in the univariate analysis, however, it was not statistically significant in the multivariate analysis. These results are reasonable because this study was predominantly men (91.8%). In the multivariate analysis male gender was no longer statistically significant because generally there are more men in the military. Only twenty percent of the multivariate model was explained by the included variables in the multivariate analysis. These results suggest that there are other potential risk factors that warrant consideration that were not included in this study (i.e., genetic components, environmental exposures, and noise level measurements); or more quantitative and accurate measurements for the variables that were collected are needed.

Prevalence of noise-induced hearing loss can be reduced through increased public health awareness and implementation of prevention strategies. Health care professionals need to educate employees and the general public about potential sources of noise exposure at work and at home and common clinical findings. Prevention strategies include implementation of a hearing conservation program in the work place, engineering noise out of the work place, and provision of hearing protective devices.

5.2 Limitations

The current study has some limitations. Only reports of individuals submitted to the State of Michigan were analyzed. Those individuals that sought treatment from health care providers that were unaware of Michigan's disease reporting law or those who did not seek medical attention would not have been included in this study. Only a small percentage of all work-related noise-induced hearing is reported to the State and therefore in the sample. The 2003 BRFSS in Michigan estimated that 375,000 residents have work-related noise-induced hearing loss (Stanbury et al., 2008) and yet in the same year only 1,238 reports were received. Additional evidence that only a small percentage of cases are reported is that only two of 85 estimated otolaryngology/audiology group practices in Michigan and only 28 of the 490 practitioners not known to be associated with a group practice submitted reports to the State of Michigan in 2006. Demographic characteristics and risk factors of nonreported individuals may represent something other than what the current study found. It is likely that the missing individuals had less severe noise-induced hearing loss. It is also possible that the missing individuals did not have access to health insurance and therefore were less likely to have regular medical access and therefore less likely to have a hearing test. The current study may not be generalized to all individuals with more severe work-related noise-induced hearing loss.

In the current study, the outcome variable was classified into three levels:

1) bilateral material hearing impairment (Group A1), 2) unilateral material hearing impairment (Group A2), and 3) non-material hearing impairment (Group B). The

non-material hearing impairment group (Group B) was the referent response in the multivariate model. The non-material hearing impairment group (Group B) had a degree of hearing impairment; however, the group did not meet OSHA's definition of material hearing impairment. Therefore, because the referent response group (Group B) also had noise-induced hearing loss to a lesser degree, that reference may under-estimate the estimates of this study.

The current study utilized reports of individuals submitted to the State of Michigan in accordance with the Public Health Act of 1978. Particular industries, such as the manufacturing sector, are more likely to have a hearing conservation program and are therefore more likely to submit reports on individuals to the State of Michigan. This differential reporting of individuals from industries likely to have a hearing conservation program (i.e., manufacturing) would indicate that the sample in this study is not a true representation of the population in Michigan with work-related hearing loss. Individuals in employer sponsored hearing conservation programs would be expected to be more common in the study sample then among all individuals in Michigan with work-related noise-induced hearing loss. Individuals from industries less likely to have hearing conservation programs (i.e., construction) may be less likely to be reported to the State of Michigan until their impairment is more severe. This bias would possibly cause an over estimate of the protective value of the use of hearing protective devices in reducing the risk of severe hearing loss.

The data have many missing values because participants have the right to refuse to answer any question or questions at any time during the telephone

survey. Additionally, where participants were unable to be reached, their information was abstracted from the submitted reports, leaving many survey questions with missing values. The reports vary in the amount of information provided about an individual. For example, race is a required element on the occupational disease reporting form; however, it is rarely completed.

How much noise an individual is exposed to is a crucial factor in the development of hearing loss. Noise exposure levels were not captured with the current study. Noise exposure assessment was a self-report of the number of years worked in a noisy work environment, which may only be a crude surrogate of actual noise exposure.

The current study utilized self-reported information which is consistent with other studies of hearing loss prevalence, including data from the National Health Interview Survey (www.nihseniorhealth.gov/hearingloss/toc.html).

Lastly, using a cross-sectional design limits any clarification on the temporality for risk factors and disease outcome.

5.3 Conclusions

Hearing loss is common in Michigan. The current study identified three risk factors that increased the severity of work-related noise-induced hearing loss. These risk factors were increasing age, military service, and lack of hearing protective devices.

This study suggests that not providing employees with hearing protective devices is a significant risk factor in the development of severe noise-induced

hearing loss. A useful prevention approach would be the implementation and execution of hearing conservation programs. OSHA does not require hearing conservation programs in construction. This study would support the benefit of requiring such programs in construction. This study emphasizes the importance of hearing protection in both the workplace and the military. Efforts to ensure the use of hearing protective devices are needed. This study also demonstrated that state surveillance data is useful in analyzing relationships and identifying risk factors for hearing loss.

Table 1: Comparison of Interviewed Participants with Audiogram Results and Interviewed Participants	of Interviewed Participa	ants with Audi	ogram Results	and Interviev	ved Participants
	with Missing Audiogram Results in Michigan, 2003-2006	m Results in I	Michigan, 2003	3-2006	
	Participants	pants	Participants	ants	
	with Missing	ssing	with	_	
	Audiogram Results	n Results	Audiogram Results	Results	
	(n=282)	82)	(n=5476)	(92	P-Value
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	
GENDER					
Male	233	(84.1)	5028	(81.8)	<.0001
Female	44	(15.9)	448	(8.2)	
AGE					
Older (GE 55 yo)	128	(45.4)	2613	(47.7)	0.45
Younger (< 55 yo)	154	(24.6)	2863	(52.3)	
RACE					
White	93	(79.5)	1889	(82.6)	0.39
Non-White	24	(20.5)	398	(17.4)	

54/8 (100.0) 1/31 (100.0) 149/ (100.0) 2168 ((average >25 dB) (average <25 dB)	Impairment Impairment	Material Hearing Non-Material Hearing	Among Participants	by Gender of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006	al Hearing ment <25 dB) JP B Percent (89.0) (11.0) (100.0)	lat Non-Materi (average GRO) Number 1947 2418	ooss in Michig 2006 Treshold Leve 4 3000 Hertz ticipants Percent (92.3) (7.7)	ced Hearing I pants, 2003-2003-2000, 2000, and Olo, 2000, and Among Par learing tent tent tent (Either Number Number 1182 1182 1182	Table 2: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan December of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006	GROUF (Both E Number 1699 92 92	2: Comparisc by Gent AL Percent (91.8) (82.9)	TOT. Number 5028 448 448 5476	GENDER Male Female Fortal TOTAL
34/6 (100.0) 1/31 (100.0) 149/ (100.0) 2100	TOTAL GROUP A1 GROUP A2 GROUP R2 G	TOTAL GROUP A1 GROUP A2 G	Impairment Imp	Material Hearing Non-Material Homeiment Non-Material Homeiment Impairment Impairment	Average Hearing Threshold Level at 1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz	(100.0)	2188	(100.0)	1497	(100.0)	1791	(100.0)	5476	TAL
7 700 00 1400 01 1400 01 1400 01 1400 01	TOTAL GROUP A1 GROUP A2 GROUP B2 G	TOTAL Character Canon Parage	Impairment Imp	Material Hearing Non-Material Hearing Non-Material Hearing Non-Material Hearing Non-Material Hearing Non-Material Hearing Impairment Impairment	Average Hearing Threshold Level at 1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz	(11.0)	241	(7.7)	115	(2.1)	92	(8.2)	448	emale
le 448 (8.2) 92 (5.1) 115 (7.7) 241 (GROUP A1 GROUP A2 GROUP B GR	Accorded 255 dB)	Impairment Imp	Material Hearing Non-Material Honorment Impairment Impairment	Average Hearing Threshold Level at 1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz	(89.0)	1947	(92.3)	1382	(64.9)	1699	(91.8)	5028	lale
E 5028 (91.8) 1699 (94.9) 1382 (92.3) 1947 (92.4) (92.4) (92.4) 1382 (92.3) 1947 (92.4) (92.4	GROUP A1 GROUP A2 (Both Ears) (Either Ear)	(average >25 dB) GROUP A1 GROUP A2 (Both Ears) (Either Ear)	Impairment (average >25 dB) GROUP A1 (Both Ears) (Either Ear)	Material Hearing Impairment (average ≥25 dB) GROUP A1 (Both Ears) (Either Ear)	Average Hearing Threshold Level 1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz Among Participants Material Hearing Impairment (average >25 dB) GROUP A1 (Both Ears) (Either Ear)	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	NDER
Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent Number 5028 (91.8) 1699 (94.9) 1382 (92.3) 1947 448 (82) 32 (51) 115 (7.7) 241 577 4400 4500 4500 4400 4500 4500		average >25 dB)	Impairment average <u>></u> 25 dB)	Material Hearing Impairment average ≥25 dB)	Average Hearing Threshold Level 1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz Among Participants Material Hearing Impairment average ≥25 dB)	JP B	GROI	A2 Ear)	GROUF (Either	> A1 ars)	GROUF (Both E	۱۲.	TOT	
Material Hearing Among Participants Non-Material Hampsimment Impairment I	ng Participants	ng Participants	Among Participants		Average Hearing Threshold Level at			d 3000 Hertz	100, 2000, and	10				
Material Hearing	00, and 3000 Hertz ng Participants	00, and 3000 Hertz ng Participants	1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz Among Participants	1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz			elat	reshold Leve	ge Hearing Th	Avera				
Accepted Farticipants, 2003-2006 Participants, 2003-2006	old Level 0 Hertz nts	old Level 0 Hertz nts	by Gender of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006 Average Hearing Threshold Level at 1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz Among Participants	by Gender of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006 Average Hearing Threshold Level at 1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz			gan	oss in Michig	ced Hearing L	of Noise-Indu	on of Severity	2: Comparisc	Table	

	q	y Age Grou	up of All Int	by Age Group of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006	ticipants, 200	3-2006		
				Ave	Average Hearing Threshold Level at 1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz Among Participants	age Hearing Threshold Lew 1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz Among Participants	evel at tz	
				Materia	Material Hearing		Non-Material Hearing	al Hearing
				average (average	(average >25 dB)		(average <25 dB)	<25 dB)
	ř	10101	GRO	GROUP A1	GROUP A2	P A2	GROUP B	JP B
		O AL	nog)	(Both Ears)	EIIIIE	Ear)		•
Age Group (Years)	Number	Number Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent
18-44	1070	(19.2)	192	(17.9)	285	(26.6)	293	(55.4)
45-64	3537	(64.6)	1052	(29.7)	1030	(29.1)	1455	(41.1)
65-74	628	(11.5)	329	(57.2)	146	(23.3)	123	(19.6)
75+	241	(4.4)	188	(78.0)	36	(14.9)	17	(7.1)
TOTAL	5476	(100.0)	1791	(32.7)	1497	(27.3)	2188	(40.0)
$\chi^2 = 564.38$, p < .0001	to 100							
Row percents add to 100.	100.							

RACE ^a White African American		TOTAL Number Percent 1889 (5.9) 325 (5.9)	CROUP A1 GROUP A1 GROUP A1 CBuh Ears Number Pe 722 101	33 (38 (38 (38 (38 (38 (38 (38 (38 (38 (Average Hearing Threshold Level at 1000, 2000, and 3000 Herz Annong Participants erial Hearing Threshold Level at 1000, 2000, and 3000 Herz Annong Participants (see 126 dB) (GROUP A2 (Either Ear) (Either Ear) (Either Ear) (1) 81 (26.4)	206 hreshold Lev hricipants rticipants > A2 Ear) Percent (26.4)	Non-Material Hearing Impairment (average ~25 dB) GROUP B Number Percent Number (44.6.4.6.4)	In Hearing nent (25 dB) P B Percent (35.4) (44.0)
Other	3180	(1.3)	30	(41.1)	22	(30.1)	1356	(28.8)
TOTAL	5476		1791	(32.7)	1497	(27.3)	2188	(40.0)

 $[\]chi^{-}_{-}$ = 50.92, p < .0001 χ^{-}_{2} = 11.63, p = 0.02; with missing excluded. χ^{-}_{2} = 11.63, p = 0.02; with missing excluded. Column percentage does not add to 100 due to rounding. Row percents add to 100.

_	Table 5: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Source of Report of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006	 Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Mil by Source of Report of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006 	verity of Nois of All Intervi	se-Induced I	Hearing Los ipants, 2003	s in Michiga 3-2006	<u> </u>	
				Averag 10	Average Hearing Threshold Level at 1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz	hreshold Le	evel at tz	
					Among Participants	rticipants		
				Material Hearing	Hearing		Non-Material Hearing	Il Hearing
				Impairment	nent		Impairment	nent
				(average >25 dB)	>25 dB)		(average <25 dB)	<25 dB)
			GROUP A1	P A1	GROL	GROUP A2	GROUP B	PB
	2	TOTAL	(Both Ears)	Ears)	(Either Ear)	r Ear)		
COMPANY HEALTH								
CARE PROVIDER ^a	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Number Percent ^c
Yes	3332	(6.09)	874	(48.9)	966	(66.5)	1462	(6.99)
No	2141	(39.1)	915	(51.2)	501	(33.5)	725	(33.2)
TOTAL ^b	5473	(100.0)	1789	(100.1)	1497	(100.0)	2187	(100.1)
$\chi^2 = 161.45$, p < .0001								
^a Participant was reported to the surveillance system by a company health care provider.	ted to the sun	veillance syst	tem by a con	npany health	care provid	der.		
^b For an additional 3 participants company doctor was unknown.	irticipants con	npany doctor	was unknow	VI.				
^c Column percentages do not add to 100 due to rounding.	do not add to	100 due to ro	ounding.					

	Table 6	: Compariso by Smoking	n of Severity Status of All	of Noise-Indu Interviewed F	Table 6: Companson of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Smoking Status of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006	Loss in Michi 003-2006	gan	
				Aver 1	Average Hearing Threshold Level at 1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz Among Participants	Threshold Levad 3000 Hertz	rel at	
				Material Hearing Impairment (average >25 dB)	Material Hearing Impairment average >25 dB)		Non-Material Hearin Impairment (average <25 dB)	Non-Material Hearing Impairment (average <25 dB)
	2	TOTAL	GROUP A1 (Both Ears)	IP A1 Ears)	GROUP A2 (Either Ear)	JP A2 r Ear)	GROUP B	UP B
EVER SMOKED ^{a,b}	Number	Number Percent ^c	Number	Percent ^d	Number	Percent ^d	Number	Percent ^d
Yes	1243	(22.7)	485	(39.0)	328	(26.4)	430	(34.6)
No	595	(10.9)	202	(34.0)	163	(27.4)	230	(38.7)
Missing	3638	(66.4)	1104	(30.4)	1006	(27.7)	1528	(42.0)
TOTAL	5476	(100.0)	1791	(32.7)	1497	(27.3)	2188	(40.0)
$\chi^2 = 35.17$, p < .0001	101							
$\chi^2 = 4.77$, p = 0.09; with missing excluded.	9; with miss	sing exclude	òd.					
^D Participants were asked, "Have you ever smoked cigarettes? (No means less than 4 packs of cigarettes or 12 oz. of	asked, "Ha	ave you ever	smoked ciga	arettes? (No r	neans less tha	an 4 packs of	cigarettes or	12 oz. of
tobacco in a lifetime)"	(e)							
Column percent adds to 100.	idds to 100							
dRow percents add to 100.	d to 100.							

Average Hearing Threst Threst Toron 2000 and 300 and 3		Table 7	: Comparisc	Table 7: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan Impairment by Doctor Told Status of All Interviewed Participants 2003-200	of Noise-Indu	uced Hearing	Loss in Michigania 2003-	gan 2006	
TOTAL (Both Ears) Number (B.5.2) 595 (44) A65 (8.5) 786 (44) A65 (8.6.3) 1098 (33) A67 (400.0) 1794 (33)					Avera	age Hearing T	hreshold Lev	elat	
Material Hearing Among Participa Among Participa Impairment Among Participa Impairment Among Participa Impairment Among Participa Among					1	000, 2000, ar	nd 3000 Hertz		
Material Hearing Material Hearing Impairment						Among Pa	ırticipants		
Impairment Imp					Material	Hearing		Non-Material Hearing	al Hearing
Caroup A1 Caroup A2 Caro					Impair	ment		Impairment	ment
Number Percent Solt Fars GROUP A2					(average	>25 dB)		(average <25 dB)	<25 dB)
TOTAL (Both Ears) (Either Ear) (Both Ears) (Either Ear) (Both Ears) (Both Ea				GROU	IP A1	GROU	IP A2	GROUP B	JP B
Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent (25.2) 598 (43.3) 384 (45.2) 568 (20.4) 107 (25.3) 1098 (30.3) 1006 (20.4) 107 (45.7) 1497		5	TAL	(Both	Ears)	(Either	Ear)		
Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent (25.2) 598 (43.3) 384 (45.5) 598 (63.3) 1006 (20.4) 107 (45.3) 1006 (DOCTOR								
1381 (25.2) 598 (43.3) 384 465 (8.5) 95 (20.4) 107 ng 567 (6.5) 1098 (30.3) 1006 5476 (100.0) 1794 (32.7) 1497	TOLD ^{a,b}	Number	Percent ^c	Number	Percent ^d	Number	Percent ^d	Number	Percent
ng 466 (8.5) 95 (20.4) 107 ng 5330 (66.3) 1098 (30.3) 1006 6476 (100.0) 1794 (32.2) 4497	Yes	1381	(25.2)	298	(43.3)	384	(27.8)	399	(28.9)
ng 3630 (66.3) 1098 (30.3) 1006 5476 (100 0) 1791 (32.7) 1497	N _o	465	(8.5)	95	(20.4)	107	(23.0)	263	(26.6)
5476 (100 0) 1791 (32 7) 1497	Missing	3630	(66.3)	1098	(30.3)	1006	(27.7)	1526	(42.0)
(3:3)	TOTAL	5476	(100.0)	1791	(32.7)	1497	(27.3)	2188	(40.0)

 $\chi^2=157.35$, p <.0001 $\chi^2=157.34$, p <.0001; with missing excluded. Participants were asked, "Did a doctor or other health care provider tell you that you had a loss in your hearing?"

Column percent adds to 100.

Column percent adds to 100.

36.41 (66.5) 110.4 (30.3) 10.12 (77.8) 15.25	erial Hearing ge <25 dB) (OUP B The percent of (30.9) (A1.0) (A2.0)	Non-Mati Imp (averaç GR GR 302 362 362	b. 2003-2006 hreshold Level d 3000 Hertz riticipants riticipants P A2 Ear) P PCCent (27.8) (27.8)	a rantopants ge Hearing 000, 2000, an Among Pa Hearing ment (Either Number 272 272 273	Material	GROU (Both I Number 405 282 282 1104	rAL Percent (17.9) (15.6)	TO' Number 979 856 856 856 856 856 856 856 856 856 856	TINNITUS ^{a,b} Yes No
(2112)		.96	(24.9)	213	(32.9)	282	(15.6)	856	No
856 (15.6) 282 (32.9) 213 (24.9) 361		30.	(27.8)	272	(41.4)	405	(17.9)	979	Yes
979 (17.9) 405 (41.4) 272 (27.8) 302 856 (15.6) 282 (32.9) 213 (24.9) 361		Numbe	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent ^c	Number	TINNITUS ^{a,b}
Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent Number 979 (17.9) 405 (41.4) 272 (27.8) 302 856 (15.6) 282 (32.9) 213 (24.9) 361			Ear)	(Either	Ears)	(Both	LAL	70	
TOTAL (Both Ears) (Fither Ear) (Either Ear) Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent Number N	OUP B	GR	IP A2	GROU	IP A1	GROU			
TOTAL GROUP A1 GROUP A2 GROUF A2 GROUF A2 GROUF A2 GROUP A2 G	ge <25 dB)	(averaç		>25 dB)	(average				
According to the Part	Simple Forming	The state of the s		Sull B	Marcha				
TOTAL Character Impairment Impairmen	arial Hearing	Non-Mat		Hearing	Material				
Material Hearing Non-Material Impairment Impairment			ırticipants	Among Pa					
Material Hearing Material Hearing Material Hearing Material Hearing Material Hearing Material Hearing Impairment Impair		.,	nd 3000 Hertz	000, 2000, ar	_				
Material Hearing		el at	hreshold Lev	ige Hearing T	Avera				
Average Hearing Threshold Level at			3, 2003-2006	d Participants	OMPINE INCOME	of Tinnitus of	elf-Report		
Page					All Interviews			by S	

5476 (100.0) TOTAL

 $\chi^2=55.81, p<.0001$ $\chi^2=55.81, p<.0001$: with missing excluded. Participants were asked, "Are you bothered by ringing, roaring or buzzing in your ears?" ^cColumn percent adds to 100.

dRow percents add to 100.

	Table 9: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan	nparison o	f Severity of	of Noise-Inc	duced Hear	ing Loss i	n Michigan		
	by Presence of Health-Related Conditions of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006	-lealth-Rela	ated Condit	ions of All	Interviewed	l Participa	nts, 2003-2	900	
_				Average	Hearing Th	reshold Le	evel at 1000	Average Hearing Threshold Level at 1000, 2000 and 3000 Hertz	000 Hertz
						Among	Among Participants	"	
					Material Hearing	Hearing		Non-Material Hearing	al Hearing
					Impairment	ment		Impairment	ment
					(average	(average >25 dB)		(average <25 dB)	<25 dB)
				GROI	GROUP A1	GRO	GROUP A2	GROUP B	JP B
		TOTAL	AL	(Both	(Both Ears)	(Eithe	(Either Ear)		
_	HEALTH-RELATED CONDITION	Number	Number Percent	Number	Number Percent ^e Number Percent ^e	Number	Percent ^e	Number	Percente
_	High blood pressure	729	(13.3)	298	(40.9)	198	(27.2)	233	(32.0)
	High cholesterol ^b	692	(14.0)	323	(42.0)	197	(25.6)	249	(32.4)
_	Diabetes ^c	279	(5.1)	130	(46.6)	69	(24.7)	80	(28.7)

286 (56.4) 228 (40.4) 349 (15.8)863 Use pain medication

Participants were asked, "Has a health care provider told you that you have high blood pressure?" High blood pressure, $^2 = 40.54$, p < .0001; $\chi^2 = 8.80$, p = 0.01 with missing excluded.

Participants were asked, "Has a health care provider told you that you have diabetes?" Diabetes, $\chi^2 = 44.09$, p < .0001, branticipants were asked, "Has a health care provider told you that you have high cholesterol?" High cholesterol, $\chi^2 = 43.23$, p < .0001; $\chi^2 = 12.80$, p = 0.00 with missing excluded.

 $\chi^2=12.55$, p = 0.00 with missing exclusive. The properties of participants were asked, "Do you take pain, headache or arthritis medicine?" Pain medication, $\chi^2=37.60$, p < .0001; 2 Participants were asked, "Do you take pain, headache or arthritis medicine?" Pain medication, $\chi^2=37.60$, p < .0001; 2 = 12.55, p = 0.00 with missing excluded.

 $\chi^2 = 8.00$, p = 0.02 with missing excluded. Row percents add to 100.

	Table 10	Comparis	Table 10: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan	of Noise-Indu	uced Hearing	Loss in Michi	igan	
	by	Military Ser	by Military Service Status of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006	All Interviewe	d Participants	, 2003-2006		
				Avera	Average Hearing Threshold Level at	hreshold Lev	el at	
				_	1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz	d 3000 Hertz		
					Among Participants	rticipants		
				Material Hearing	Hearing		Non-Material Hearing	al Hearing
				Impairment	ment		Impairment	ment
				(average >25 dB)	>25 dB)		(average <25 dB)	<25 dB)
			GROUP A1	IP A1	GROUP A2	P A2	GROUP B	JP B
	2	TOTAL	(Both Ears)	Ears)	(Either Ear)	Ear)		
MILITARY ^{a,b}	Number	Number Percent ^c	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent
Yes	902	(12.9)	329	(46.6)	190	(56.9)	187	(26.5)
No	1147	(21.0)	365	(31.8)	304	(26.5)	478	(41.7)
Missing	3623	(66.2)	1097	(30.3)	1003	(27.7)	1523	(42.0)

 $[\]chi^2_-$ =85.80, p < .0001 χ^2_- =53.60, p < .0001; with missing excluded. χ^2_- =53.60, p < .0001; with missing excluded. Participants were asked, "Did you ever serve in the military?"

5476

60

2188

1497

Column percentage does not add to 100 due to rounding.

^dRow percents add to 100.

Tab	Table 11: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan	arison of Se	everity of Noi:	se-Induced H	earing Loss	in Michig	an	
by Durat	by Duration of Occupational Noise Exposure of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006	ational Noi:	se Exposure	of All Intervie	wed Particit	pants, 200	3-2006	
				Average	Average Hearing Threshold Level at	reshold Le	evel at	
				1000	1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz	1 3000 Hei	42	
				•	Among Participants	ticipants		
				Material Hearing	earing		Non-Material Hearing	Hearing
				Impairment	ent		Impairment	ent
				(average >25 dB)	25 dB)		(average <25 dB)	25 dB)
			GROUP A1	JP A1	GROUP A2	IP A2	GROUP B	В.
	TOTAL	AL	(Both Ears)	Ears)	(Either Ear)	· Ear)		
DURATION NOISE				4				
EXPOSURE ^a	Number	Number Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Number Percent	Number Percent	Percent
< 10 years	1630	(29.8)	483	(27.0)	436	(29.1)	711	(32.5)
10-19 years	592	(10.8)	141	(6.7)	169	(11.3)	282	(12.9)
20+ years	3254	(29.4)	1167	(65.2)	892	(29.6)	1195	(54.6)
TOTAL	5476	(100.0)	1791	(100.1)	1497	(100.0)	2188	(100.0)

 $\chi^2=52.18,\,p<.0001$ aDuration of noise exposure was calculated using the total number of years spent in a noisy job(s). ^bColumn percentage does not add to 100 due to rounding.

shold Level at 200 Hertz pants Non-Material Impairm (average ant day 100 mm langer A 22 day 100 mm langer A 22 day 100 mm langer A 49 day 100 mm langer B 33 day 1888 mm langer A 9 day 100 mm langer B 30 day 100 mm langer 18 day 100 mm langer C 2 day 100 mm langer 100 mm langer D 30 day 100 mm langer 100 mm langer D 4 day 100 mm langer 100 mm langer D 5 day 100 mm langer 100 mm langer D 6 day 100 mm langer 100 mm langer D 7.3 day 100 mm langer 22 mm langer D 7.3 day 100 mm langer 22 mm langer D 7.3 day 100 mm langer 22 mm langer D 7.3 day 100 mm langer 22 mm langer D 7.3 day 100 mm langer 22 mm langer D 7.3 day 100 mm langer 22 mm langer D 7.3 day 100 mm langer 22 mm langer D 7.3 day 100 mm langer 22 mm langer D 7.3 day 100 mm langer 22 mm langer D 7.3 day 100 mm langer 22 mm langer D 7.3 day 100 mm langer 22 mm langer D 7.3 day 100 mm langer 22 mm langer D 7.3 day 100 mm langer <t< th=""><th>Table 12: bv</th><th>Table 12: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Industrial Sectors of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006</th><th> Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Mi by Industrial Sectors of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006 </th><th>rity of Nois All Intervie</th><th>e-Induced wed Partic</th><th>nearing Lo ipants, 200</th><th>3-2006</th><th><u></u></th><th></th></t<>	Table 12: bv	Table 12: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Industrial Sectors of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006	 Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Mi by Industrial Sectors of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006 	rity of Nois All Intervie	e-Induced wed Partic	nearing Lo ipants, 200	3-2006	<u></u>	
Material Hearing Among Participants Among Participants Non-Material Hearing SROUP A1 (SPC) SPC					Ave	age Hearir 1000, 2000	ng Threshold 1, and 3000 F	l Level at Hertz	
Material Hearing Non-Material Impairm						Among	Participants		
TOTAL GROUP A1 Impairment					Materia	II Hearing		Non-Materi	al Hearing
TOTAL (average 2.5 dB) (average 5.5 dB)					Imps	irment		Impair	ment
TOTAL GROUP A1 GROUP A2 G					(averag	e >25 dB)		(average	(SD CZ>
TOTAL (Both Ears) (Either Ear) (Either Ear) (Mumber Percent ² Number (Both Ears) (Either Ear) Number Percent ² Number Number Percent ³ Number Number Percent ⁴ Number Number Percent ⁴ Number Number Percent ⁴ Number A (22.2) 4				GRO	UP A1	GRO	UP A2	GROI	JP B
Number Percent Number		01	TAL	(Both	Ears)	(Eith	er Ear)		
y (01-08) 18 (0.3) 10 (55.6) 4 (22.2) 4 y (01-08) 8 (0.2) 3 (37.5) 3 (37.5) 2 y) 46.6 (0.2) 7 (47.2) 36 (22.4) 49 49) 45.6 (0.3) 17 (45.4) 26 (21.9) 39 67) 50 (0.9) 17 (34.0) 15 (30.0) 18 67) 50 (0.9) 17 (34.0) 15 (30.0) 18 67) 50 (0.9) 17 (34.0) 16 (30.0) 18 67) 192 (3.5) 17 (29.8) 18 (31.6) 80 5476 (99.9) 1791 (32.7) 1497 (27.3) 2188	INDUSTRY (SIC) ^{a,b}	Number	Percent	Number	Percent ^d	Number	Percent	Number	Percent ^d
9 (10-14) 16 (0.2) 17 (0.2) 18 (0.2) 18 (0.2) 19 (17.5) 19 (17.5) 19 (18.2) 19 (18.2) 19 (18.2) 19 (19.2)	Agriculture/Forestry (01-08)	18	(0.3)	10	(55.6)	4	(22.2)	4	(22.2)
Truction (15.17) 161 (2.9) 76 (47.2) 36 (22.4) 49 facturing (20.38) 4558 (83.2) 1399 (30.7) 1291 (28.3) 1868 portation (40.49) 19 (2.2) 50 (0.9) 17 (34.0) 15 (30.0) 18 ces (70.89) 192 (3.5) 57 (1.0) 17 (29.8) 74 (23.6) 192 (3.5) 54 (45.4) 15 (30.0) 18 ces (70.89) 19 (3.5) 19 (3.9) 1791 (3.9) 19 (3.9	Mining (10-14)	80	(0.2)	3	(37.5)	3	(37.5)	2	(25.0)
facturing (20.39) 4558 (83.2) 1399 (30.7) 1291 (28.3) 1868 portation (40.49) 119 (2.2) 54 (45.4) 26 (21.9) 39 Pictrance (50.67) 50 (0.9) 17 (34.0) 15 (30.0) 18 Sec (70.89) 192 (3.5) 56 (29.2) 30 (15.6) 106 Administration (90.97) 313 (1.0) 17 (29.8) 18 (31.6) 22 Administration (90.97) 345 (39.9) 1791 (32.7) 1497 (27.3) 2188	Construction (15-17)	161	(5.9)	9/	(47.2)	36	(22.4)	49	(30.4)
portation (40.49) 119 (2.2) 54 (45.4) 26 (21.9) 39 39 4 4 4 4 4 5 4 4 5 4 4 5 4 4 5 4 4 5 4 4 5 4 4 4 5 4 4 4 5 4 4 5 4 4 5 4 4 5 4 4 4 5 4 4 4 5 4 4 4 5 4 4 4 5 4 4 4 5 4	Manufacturing (20-39)	4558	(83.2)	1399	(30.7)	1291	(28.3)	1868	(41.0)
vFinance (50-67) 50 (0.9) 17 (34.0) 15 (30.0) 18 ces (70-89) 192 (3.5) 56 (29.2) 30 (15.6) 106 s. Administration (90-97) 57 (1.0) 17 (29.8) 74 (23.6) 80 sq 313 (5.7) 60.8) 74 (23.5) 80 sq 60.9) 1791 (32.7) 1497 (27.3) 2188	Transportation (40-49)	119	(2.2)	54	(45.4)	26	(21.9)	39	(32.8)
cos (70-89) 192 (3.5) 56 (29.2) 30 (15.6) 106 Administration (90-97) 37 (1.0) 17 (29.8) 18 (31.6) 22 ng 313 (2.7) 159 (50.8) 74 (2.36) 80 ng 5476 (99.9) 1791 (32.7) 1497 (27.3) 2188	Trade/Finance (50-67)	20	(0.9)	17	(34.0)	15	(30.0)	18	(36.0)
Administration (90-97) 57 (1.0) 17 (29.8) 18 (31.6) 22 2 3 3 3 3 3 (5.7) 159 (50.8) 74 (23.6) 80 3 5 4 (29.8) 149 (27.3) 2188	Services (70-89)	192	(3.5)	26	(29.2)	30	(15.6)	106	(55.2)
1g 313 (5.7) 159 (50.8) 74 (23.6) 80 5476 (99.9) 1791 (32.7) 1497 (27.3) 2188	Public Administration (90-97)	57	(1.0)	17	(29.8)	18	(31.6)	22	(38.6)
5476 (99.9) 1791 (32.7) 1497 (27.3) 2188	Missing	313	(2.7)	159	(20.8)	74	(23.6)	80	(25.6)
	TOTAL	5476	(6.66)	1791	(32.7)	1497	(27.3)	2188	(40.0)

 $[\]chi^{\star} = 109.46, p < .0001$ $\chi^{\star} = 57.66, p < .0001 with missing excluded.$ bStandard Industrial Classification, 1987 manual.

^cColumn percentage does not add to 100 due to rounding. dRow percents add to 100.

	Table 13: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Company Size of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006	nparison or ompany Siz	Severity of I e of All Inter	 Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in N by Company Size of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006 	u nearing Li sipants, 2003	oss in Michig 3-2006	an	
				Avera 10	ge Hearing 7 000, 2000, au Among Pa	Average Hearing Threshold Level at 1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz Among Participants	vel at z	
				Material Hearing	Hearing		Non-Material Hearing	al Hearing
				Impairment	ment		Impairment	ment
				(average >25 dB)	≥25 dB)		(average <25 dB)	<25 dB)
			GROUP A1	JP A1	GROL	GROUP A2	GROUP B	JP B
	7	TOTAL	(Both Ears)	Ears)	(Either Ear)	r Ear)		
SIZE OF	Number	Number Percent ^c	Number	Percent ^d	Number	Percent ^d	Number	Percent ^d
< 25 Employees	116	(2.1)	40	(34.5)	30	(25.9)	46	(39.7)
25-100 Employees	132	(2.4)	41	(31.1)	46	(34.9)	45	(34.1)
101-500 Employees	160	(5.9)	61	(38.1)	39	(24.4)	09	(37.5)
> 501 Employees	4015	(73.3)	1191	(29.7)	1129	(28.1)	1695	(42.2)
Missing	1053	(19.2)	458	(43.5)	253	(24.0)	342	(32.5)
TOTAL	5476	(6.66)	1791	(32.7)	1497	(27.3)	2188	(40.0)

 $\chi^2_2=80.20$, p < .0001 $^2_3=80.20$, p = 0.11; with missing excluded. $^2_3\chi^2_2=10.46$, p = 0.11; with missing excluded. Prarticipants were asked, "How many people do you estimate work in a noisy area at this company?" Prarticipants were asked, "How many people do you estimate work in a noisy area at this company?"

dRow percents add to 100.

by Daily	Occupation	Idi Noise E.	by Daily Occupational Noise Exposure Status of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006	us of All Inte	NEWED I AL	ticipants, zui	03-2000	
				Average 10	Average Hearing Threshold Level at 1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz Among Participants	Threshold Lead 3000 Herricipants	vel at tz	
				Material Hearing	Hearing		Non-Material Hearing	al Hearing
				Impairment	ment		Impairment	ment
				(average ≥25 dB)	>25 dB)		(average <25 dB)	<25 dB)
			GROUP A1	IP A1	GROUP A2	IP A2	GROUP B	JP B
	ᄋ	TOTAL	(Both Ears)	Ears)	(Either Ear)	r Ear)		
NOISY EVERYDAY ^{a,b}	Number	Number Percent ^c	Number	Percent	Number	Percent ^d	Number	Percent
All the time	1263	(23.1)	473	(37.5)	342	(27.1)	448	(35.5)
Most of the time	222	(4.1)	85	(38.3)	65	(29.2)	72	(32.4)
Sometimes	228	(4.2)	72	(31.6)	09	(26.3)	96	(42.1)
	46	(0.8)	16	(34.8)	10	(21.7)	20	(43.5)
Rarely/never	33	(0.6)	0	(27.3)	7	(21.2)	17	(51.5)
	3684	(67.3)	1136	(30.8)	1013	(27.5)	1535	(41.7)
	5476	140041	4704	12 00)	4407	(0.40)	0400	(40.0)

		C
	issing excluded.	Vac it noisy eyery
34, p = 0.00	$\frac{a^2}{\chi}$ = 10.17, p = 0.25; with missing excluded.	Destricipants were asked "Was it noisy every
× = 30.	$\frac{a^2}{\chi} = 10$	Darticin

[&]quot;Participants were asked, "Was it noisy every day?" ^CColumn percentage does not add to 100 due to rounding. ^dRow percents add to 100.

	Table 1	5: Comparis	son of Severity	Table 15: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan	uced Hearing	Loss in Mich	igan		
by Cc	ontinuous C	ocupationa	I Noise Expos	by Continuous Occupational Noise Exposure Status of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006	All Interviewe	ed Participant	s, 2003-2006		
				Avera	Average Hearing Threshold Level at	hreshold Lev	elat		
				_	1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz	nd 3000 Hertz			
					Among Participants	ırticipants			
9				Material Hearing	Hearing		Non-Materi	Non-Material Hearing	
				Impairment	ment		Impairment	rment	
				(average >25 dB)	>25 dB)		(average <25 dB)	<25 dB)	
			GROUP A1	JP A1	GROUP A2	IP A2	GROUP B	UP B	
	2	TOTAL	(Both Ears)	Ears)	(Either Ear)	· Ear)			
ALL DAY LONG ^{a,b}	Number	Number Percent ^c	Number	Percent ^d	Number	Percent ^d	Number	Percent ^d	
Yes	1474	(26.9)	538	(36.5)	409	(27.8)	527	(35.8)	
No	299	(5.5)	109	(36.5)	73	(24.4)	117	(39.1)	
Missing	3703	(67.6)	1144	(30.9)	1015	(27.4)	1544	(41.7)	
TOTAL	5476	(100.0)	1791	(32.7)	1497	(27.3)	2188	(40.0)	

 $\chi^2=21.89, p=0.00$ $_{\rm A}^2=1.80, p=0.41;$ with missing excluded.

^cColumn percent adds to 100. dRow percents add to 100.

	Table 16 by Pre-	3: Comparis Employmer	son of Severity	y of Noise-Ind st of All Interv	Table 16: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Pre-Employment Hearing Test of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006	Loss in Mich pants, 2003-20	igan 006	
				Aver	Average Hearing Threshold Level at	hreshold Lev	elat	
				~	1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz	nd 3000 Hertz		
					Among Participants	ırticipants		
				Material	Material Hearing		Non-Material Hearing	al Hearing
				Impairment	rment		Impairment	ment
				(average >25 dB)	>25 dB)		(average <25 dB)	<25 dB)
			GROUP A1	JP A1	GROUP A2	JP A2	GROUP B	JP B
	0	TOTAL	(Both Ears)	Ears)	(Either Ear)	r Ear)		
HEARING	Number	Number Percent ^c	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent
TEST								
No	589	(10.8)	262	(44.5)	152	(25.8)	175	(29.7)
Yes	949	(17.3)	538	(31.5)	266	(28.0)	384	(40.5)
Missing	3938	(71.9)	1230	(31.2)	1079	(27.4)	1629	(41.4)
TOTAL	5476	(100.0)	1621	(32.7)	1497	(27.3)	2199	(40.0)

 $\chi^2=46.17$, p < .0001 $^2\chi^2=29.00$, p < .0001; with missing excluded. $^2\chi^2=29.00$, p < .0001; with missing excluded. Darticipants were asked, "Did the company give you a hearing test when you first started working there?"

^cColumn percent adds to 100.

dRow percents add to 100.

	Table 17	7. Comparis	on of Severity	Table 17: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan	iced Hearing	Loss in Mich	igan	
	by R	egular Hear	ing Testing o	by Regular Hearing Testing of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006	ed Participan	ts, 2003-2006		
				Avera	ge Hearing T	Average Hearing Threshold Level at	elat	
				1	300, 2000, ar	1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz		
					Among Participants	ırticipants		
				Material Hearing	Hearing		Non-Material Hearing	al Hearing
				Impairment	nent		Impairment	ment
				(average >25 dB)	>25 dB)		(average <25 dB)	<25 dB)
			GROUP A1	JP A1	GROUP A2	IP A2	GROUP B	UP B
	5	TOTAL	(Both Ears)	Ears)	(Either Ear)	Ear)		
REGULAR								
TESTING ^{a,b}	Number	Number Percent ^c	Number	Percent	Number	Percent ^d	Number	Percent ^d
N _o	526	(9.6)	222	(42.2)	133	(25.3)	171	(32.5)
Yes	1198	(21.9)	416	(34.7)	328	(27.4)	424	(37.9)
Missing	3752	(68.5)	1153	(30.7)	1036	(27.6)	1563	(41.7)

 $\chi^2=32.69,\,p<.0001$ $\chi^2=9.05,\,p=0.01;\,$ with missing excluded. Participants were asked, "Did the company give you a hearing test on a regular basis?"

^cColumn percent adds to 100.

dRow percents add to 100.

by Compan	Table 18: ny Provisior	Comparisor ι of Hearing	n of Severity of Protective D	Table 18: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Company Provision of Hearing Protective Device (HPD) of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006	ced Hearing of All Intervie	Loss in Michi wed Participa	gan ants, 2003-20	90
				Avera 10	ge Hearing T 300, 2000, ar	Average Hearing Threshold Level at 1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz	rel at z	
					Among Participants	ırticipants		
				Material Hearing	Hearing		Non-Materi	Non-Material Hearing
				Impairment	ment		Impairment	Impairment (2)5 dB)
				avelage	(an 07)		average	(an 635
			GROL	GROUP A1	GROUP A2	IP A2	GRO	GROUP B
	TOTAL	AL.	(Both Ears)	Ears)	(Either Ear)	r Ear)		
HEARING								
DEVICE ^{a,b}	Number	Number Percent ^c	Number	Percent ^d	Number	Percent	Number	Percent ^d
No	276	(2.0)	136	(49.3)	99	(23.9)	74	(26.8)
Yes	1509	(27.6)	522	(34.6)	414	(27.4)	573	(38.0)
Missing	3691	(67.4)	1133	(30.7)	1017	(27.6)	1541	(41.8)
TOTAL	5476	(100.0)	1791	(32.7)	1497	(27.3)	2188	(40.0)
6								

 $\chi^2=47.01$, p < .0001 $\chi^2=47.01$, p < .0001; with missing excluded. b Participants were asked, "Were you given hearing protection?" ^cColumn percent adds to 100.

^dRow percents add to 100.

68

Table 18: Compariso Table 19: Compariso Table 19: Compariso Toral Protective PROTECTIVE Number Percent	by Type of Hearing Protective Device (HPD) Used of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006 Average Hearing Threshold Level at 1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz Among Participants Material Hearing Impairment Impa (average >25 dB) (average average Average Average Hearing Impairment Impa	Among Participants Material Hearing Impairment	Material Hearing Impairment	ring Non-Material Hearing It Impairment
--	--	--	--------------------------------	---

= 3.64, p = 0.73TOTAL

(37.9)37.7)

999

(27.6)

(34.5)

17 412

31 515

(17.4) (100.1)(5.2)

260 1493

^bFor an additional 16 participants type of hearing protection used was unknown. $\chi=3.04, p=0.7.5$ abarticipants were asked, if given hearing protective device "What type(s)?"
abarticipants were asked, if given hearing protective device "nord was unkny

^cColumn percentage does not add to 100 due to rounding. dRow percents add to 100.

	Table 2	20: Comparisc y Work-Relate	on of Severity	Table 20: Comparison of Severity of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan by Work-Related Injures of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006	uced Hearing	Loss in Mich 2003-2006	igan	
				Avera	Average Hearing Threshold Level at 1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz Among Participants	hreshold Lev nd 3000 Hertz rticipants	rel at	
				Material Hearing	Hearing		Non-Material Hearing	ial Hearing
				Impairment (average >25 dB)	ment >25 dB)		Impairment (average <25 dB)	ment <25 dB)
			GROUP A1	JP A1	GROUP A2	IP A2	GROUP B	UP B
	TOTAL	٦ <u>.</u>	(Both Ears)	Ears)	(Either Ear)	Ear)		
INJURIES ^{a,b}	Number	Percent ^c	Number	Percent ^d	Number	Percent ^d	Number	Percent ^d
Yes	847	(15.5)	318	(37.5)	238	(28.1)	291	(34.4)
No	921	(16.8)	329	(35.7)	240	(26.1)	352	(38.2)
Missing	3708	(67.7)	1144	(30.9)	1019	(27.5)	1545	(41.7)
TOTAL	5476	(100.0)	1791	(32.7)	1497	(27.3)	2188	(40.0)
$\chi^2 = 23.34$, p = 0.00	00:00							
$\frac{a^2}{\chi} = 2.89$, p = 0.24 with missing excluded.	: 0.24 with mis	ssing excluded	Ti.					
^b Participants were asked, "Did you have any work injuries at this company that caused you to lose work for a day or	vere asked, "L	old you have a	any work inju	ries at this cor	npany that ca	used you to	lose work for	a day or
more or to be assigned to restricted or light duty work for a day or more?"	assigned to re	stricted or ligh	nt duty work 1	for a day or m	ore?"			
Column percent adds to 100.	ent adds to 10	0.						
^d Row percents add to 100.	add to 100.							

			Among Participants Among Participants	Hearing Thr	eshold Level at 1000, Among Participants	l at 1000, 2 irticipants	Average Hearing Threshold Level at 1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz Among Participants	00 Hertz
	<u> </u>	Exposed at		Material Hearing Impairment	Hearing ment		Non-Material Hearing Impairment	aterial ring ment
	Noise	With Noise Exposure	GROUP A1 (Both Ears)	JP A1 Ears)	GROUP A2 (Either Ear)	JP A2 r Ear)	GROUP B	JP B
CHEM/SOLVENT EXP ^a N	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent"	Number	Percent
Other Solvents	623	(25.4)	238	(38.2)	185	(29.7)	200	(32.1)
Lead	371	(15.1)	147	(39.6)	111	(59.9)	113	(30.5)
Acetone	361	(14.7)	141	(39.1)	66	(27.4)	121	(33.5)
Trichlorethylene	323	(13.2)	133	(41.2)	26	(30.0)	93	(28.8)
Trichlorethane	146	(0.9)	71	(48.6)	38	(26.0)	37	(25.3)
Toluene	143	(2.8)	69	(48.3)	30	(21.0)	44	(30.8)
Xylene"	141	(2.8)	26	(39.7)	42	(29.8)	43	(30.5)
MEK'	114	(4.7)	52	(45.6)	28	(24.6)	34	(29.8)
Styrene	91	(3.7)	43	(47.4)	22	(24.2)	26	(28.6)
Perchloroethylene	83	(3.4)	38	(45.8)	21	(25.3)	24	(28.9)
Pesticides ¹	53	(2.2)	23	(43.4)	11	(20.8)	19	(32.9)
Any Chem/Solv Exp ^{III}	901	(36.8)	341	(37.9)	259	(28.8)	301	(33.4)
Participants were asked, "Were you exposed to any of the following substances at this company?" For an additional	ere you ex	xposed to a	ny of the fol	lowing subs	tances at th	is company	?" For an ad	ditional
$\chi_{\chi}^{1/2}$ participants explosive to any chemical property was unknown. $\chi_{\chi}^{1/2} = 6.19$, $p = 0.05$; $\chi_{\chi}^{1/2} = 5.98$, $p = 0.05$; $\chi_{\chi}^{1/2} = 1.25$, $p = 0.53$; $\chi_{\chi}^{1/2} = 8.45$, $p = 0.01$; $\chi_{\chi}^{1/2} = 10.64$, $p = 0.00$;	8, p = 0.0	5 ; $\chi = 1.5$	25, p = 0.53	$\frac{e^{\chi}}{\chi} = 8.45$	p = 0.01; 1	2 = 10.64,	p = 0.00;	
$y_{\chi}^2 = 8.38$, p = 0.02; $x_{\chi}^2 = 2.0$	11, p = 0.3	$37; \chi^2 = 3.9$	3, p = 0.14;	$\chi^2 = 4.41$,	$p = 0.11; ^{n}\chi$	= 3.08, p =	= 0.21;	

Non-Waterial Hearing Non-Waterial Hearing Non-Waterial Hearing Impairment					1000, 2000	Average Hearing Threshold Level at 1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz Among Partic	Threshold Leftz Among	Average Hearing Threshold Level at 1000, 2000, and 3000 Hertz Among Participants	
NONWORK NOISE EXPOSURE ^a Number Percent (Both Ears) (Either Ear) Hunting (Either Ear) Snowmobiling (Either Ear) Percent (Either Ear) (Ear) (Either Ear) (Either Ear) (Either Ear) (Either Ear) (Ear) (E					Material Impai (average	Hearing irment > >25 dB)		Non-Material Hearing Impairment (average <25 dB)	ial Hearing ment <25 dB)
NONWORK NOISE Number Percent Lunting Number Number <th< th=""><th></th><th>TOT</th><th>۲</th><th>GROI (Both</th><th>JP A1 Ears)</th><th>GROU (Either</th><th>P A2 Ear)</th><th>GROUP B</th><th>UP B</th></th<>		TOT	۲	GROI (Both	JP A1 Ears)	GROU (Either	P A2 Ear)	GROUP B	UP B
Hunting (11.3) (NONWORK NOISE EXPOSURE	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent
Target shoot 387 (7.1) 142 (36.7) 95 (22 Snowmobiling 243 (4.4) 99 (40.7) 60 (22 Power tools 385 (7.9) 177 (40.7) 107 (22 Chain saw, and ansisty 282 (5.2) 61 (21.6) 77 (2.1) Motor boat/jet ski ¹¹ 227 (4.2) 78 (34.4) 77 (2.2) Lawn work 1319 (24.1) 87 (36.9) 77 (2.2) Other 1547 (28.3) 57 (2.3) 71 (2.2) Patricipants were asked, "Doddt you cannot fit following on a regular basis?" 2.2.3.30, c.0001; x. = 2.08, though missing expluded, x. = 23.30, c.0001; x. = 2.08, p=0.35 with missing expluded, x. = 22.30, p<0.001; x. = 2.09, p=0.35 with missing expluded, x. = 22.30, p<0.001; x. = 2.99, p=0.23 with missing expluded	Hunting	619	(11.3)	240	(38.8)	171	(27.6)	208	(33.6)
Snowmobiling 243 (4.4) 99 (40.7) 60 (22 Power tools 435 (7.9) 177 (40.7) 107 (22 Chain saw 385 (7.0) 150 (39.0) 102 (22 Loud music 285 (7.0) 150 (12.6) 77 (2.16) Motor boat/jet ski ¹¹ 227 (4.2) 78 (34.4) 71 (3 Lawn work 1319 (24.1) 487 (36.9) 362 (2 Other 157 (5.0) 97 (35.3) 71 (2 Any 1547 (28.3) 572 (37.0) 42.5 (2 Any 1547 (28.3) 572 (37.0) 42.5 (2 Any 1547 (28.3) 57.0 (37.0) 42.5 (2 Any 1548 1549 154.0 (37.0) 42.5 (2 Any 1549 154.0 154.0	Target shoot	387	(7.1)	142	(36.7)	95	(24.6)	150	(38.8)
Power tools 435 (7.9) 177 (40.7) 107 (22 Chain saw 385 (7.0) 150 (39.0) 102 (22 Loud music 227 (4.2) 61 (21.6) 77 (21 Motor boastjet ski'' 227 (4.2) 78 (34.4) 71 (31 Lawn work 275 (5.0) 97 (35.3) 71 (2 Any 1547 (28.3) 572 (2 (2 (2 Any 1540 10 425 (2 (2 (2 Any 1540 10 30 30 (2 (2 Any 1540 10 30 (3 (3 (3	Snowmobiling	243	(4.4)	66	(40.7)	09	(24.7)	84	(34.6)
Chain saw¹ 386 (7.0) 150 (39.0) 102 (22 Loud musicy 282 (5.2) 61 (21.6) 77 (2 Motor boat/jet ski¹ 227 78 (34.4) 77 (2 Lawn work 1319 (24.1) 487 (36.9) 36.2 (2 Other 276 (5.0) 97 (35.3) 71 (2 Any 1547 (28.3) 572 (37.0) 425 (2 Appricipants were asked. "Dodfd you do any of the following organization grapher basis?" 2 (2 (2 ½-20.35 pc.0001; ½-20.5b pc.03 with missing expluded. "Z-20.30, pc.0001; "2-209, pc.0.23 with missing explanal "Z-20.30, pc.0001; "2-209, pc.0.23 with missing explanal "Z-20.30, pc.0.001; "2-209, pc.0.23 with missing explanal "Z-20.30, pc.0.001; "2-209, pc.0.23 with missing explanal "Z-20.30, pc.0.001; "2-20.30, pc.0.0.23 with missing explanal "Z-20.30, pc.0.23 with missing explanal "Z-20.30, pc.0.23 with missing explanal "Z-20.30, pc.0.23 with missing explanal "Z-20.30, pc.0.20.30, pc.0.23 with missing	Power tools	435	(7.9)	177	(40.7)	107	(24.6)	151	(34.7)
Loud music ⁴ 282 (5.2) 61 (21.6) 77 (23.6) Motor boatljet ski ¹ 227 (4.2) 78 (34.4) 71 (3.5) Lawn work 1319 (24.1) 487 (36.9) 362 (2.7) Other 275 (6.0) 97 (35.3) 71 (22.3) Any 1547 (28.3) 572 (37.0) 425 (2.2) **Participants were asked ''Dodid you do any of the following on a regular basis?" 2.2.35, pc.0001; x² = 2.09, p-0.35 with missing excluded. x² = 32.30, pc.0001; x² = 2.09, p-0.23 with missing excluded. x² = 32.30, pc.0001; x² = 2.09, p-0.23 with missing excluded. x² = 32.30, pc.0001; x² = 2.09, p-0.23 with missing excluded. x² = 32.30, pc.0001; x² = 2.09, p-0.23 with missing excluded. x² = 32.30, pc.0001; x² = 2.00, pc.023 with missing excluded. x² = 32.30, pc.0001; x² = 2.00, pc.023 with missing excluded. x² = 32.30, pc.0001; x² = 2.00, pc.023 with missing excluded. x² = 32.30, pc.0001; x² = 2.00, pc.023 with missing excluded. x² = 32.30, pc.0001; x² = 2.00, pc.023 with missing excluded. x² = 32.30, pc.0001; x² = 2.00, pc.023 with missing excluded. x² = 32.30, pc.0001; x² = 2.00, pc.023 with missing excluded. x² = 32.30, pc.0001; x² = 2.00, pc.023 with missing excluded. x² = 32.30, pc.0001; x² = 2.00, pc.0001;	Chain saw	385	(7.0)	150	(39.0)	102	(26.5)	133	(34.6)
Motor boat/jet ski ¹¹ 227 (4.2) 78 (34.4) 71 (37 Lawn work 1319 (24.1) 487 (36.9) 362 (22 Other 276 (5.0) 97 (35.3) 71 (27 (27 (28.3) 25.2) 25.0001; x = 2.03, with missing excluded 1, 2.23, p=0.51 with missing excluded 2, 2.23, p=0.23 with missing excluded 3, 2.23, p=0.23 with missing excluded 3, 2.23, p=0.23 with missing excluded 5,	Loud music ⁹	282	(5.2)	61	(21.6)	77	(27.3)	144	(51.1)
Lawn work 1319 (24.1) 487 (36.9) 362 (2) Other 275 (5.0) 97 (35.3) 71 (28.3) Any 1547 (28.3) 572 (37.0) 425 (2.2) Papiricipants were asked, "Doddi you do any of the following or aregular basis?" 2 (2.2) <t< td=""><td>Motor boat/jet ski"</td><td>227</td><td>(4.2)</td><td>78</td><td>(34.4)</td><td>71</td><td>(31.3)</td><td>78</td><td>(34.4)</td></t<>	Motor boat/jet ski"	227	(4.2)	78	(34.4)	71	(31.3)	78	(34.4)
Other 275 (5.0) 97 (35.3) 71 (22.4) Any 1547 (28.3) 572 (37.0) 425 (27.0) 672 (37.0) 425 (27.0) 72 (37.0) 72 (27.0)	Lawn work	1319	(24.1)	487	(36.9)	362	(27.5)	470	(35.6)
Any Any 1547 (28.3) 572 (37.0) 425 (21 2 Patricipants were asked. "Doddid you do any of the following on a regular basis?" 2 2.32 2 2 2.30 2 2 -2.00 2 2 -2.09, p=0.35 with missing excluded. 2 2 -32.30 2 2 -2.39, p=0.31 with missing expluded. 2 2 -32.39, p 2 0001; 2 =1.34, p=0.51 with missing expluded. 2 2 -32.39, p 2 0001; 2 =1.34, p=0.51 with missing expluded.	Other	275	(2.0)	6	(35.3)	71	(25.8)	107	(38.9)
^a Participants were asked, "Dodid you do any of the following on a regular basis?" 2 = 2.09, p=0.35 with 2 = 32.30, p<0001; χ = 2.09, p=0.35 with missing excluded. χ = 32.30, p<0001; χ = 2.09, p=0.21 with missing excluded. χ = 32.30, p<0001; χ = 1.34, p=0.51 with missing excluded. χ = 32.39, p<0001; χ = 1.34, p=0.51 with missing excluded. χ	Any	1547	(28.3)	572	(37.0)	425	(27.5)	550	(35.6)
χ =0.62 p=0.74 with missing expluded. 3χ =74.88 p<0001; χ =43.70, p<0001 with missing excluded p=0.25 with missing expluded χ =30.54, p<0001; χ =0.88 p=0.64 with missing expluded χ =20.58 p<0001; χ =0.89 p=0.65 with missing expluded χ =20.58 p	Participants were asked, $\chi=22.35$ po.0001; $\chi=2$ po.0001; $\chi=1.34$, p=0.51 $\chi=0.62$, p=0.74 with miss p=0.25 with missing $\chi=0.25$	"Do/did you (2.09, p=0.35 v with missing sing excluded ded. $\chi = 30.5$	do any of the with missing ϵ excluded. χ =74.88, 1. χ =74.88, 54, p<.0001; χ	following on 2 sycluded. 2 =32.93, p2: p2.0001; 2 =0.88, p=0	a regular basis =32.30 p<.000 0001; χ =2.99, 43.70, p<.000 64 with missin	7. $\chi^2 = 2.09$, p= 11. $\chi^2 = 2.09$, with m 1 with missing g excluded. χ^2 g excluded. χ^2	0.35 with miss issing exclude excluded. 7.3 excluded. 7.3 excluded. 7.4 excluded. 7.4 excluded. 7.4 excluded. 7.4 excluded. 7.4 excluded. 7.4 excluded.	sing excluded. $^{\circ}$ ad. $^{\circ}$ =30.04, p =33.79, p<000. $^{\circ}$ 001; $^{\circ}$ =1.14, p=	$\chi^2 = 33.13$, $\chi^2 = 33.13$, < 0.0001; 1; $\chi^2 = 2.78$, = 0.56 with

Table 23: Adjusted Odds Ratios for Material Hearing Impairment Compared to Non-Material Hearing Impairment by Selected Demographic and Health-Related Characteristics in Michigan of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006

Characteristics in Michigan		of All Interviewed Participants, 2003-2006					
		Group A1		roup A2			
	(B	oth Ears)		ther Ear)			
		n=437		n=327			
	AOR	(95% CI) ^c	AOR	(95% CI) ^c			
DURATION NOISE EXPOSURE							
< 10 years	1.00		1.00				
10-19 years	0.67	(0.34-1.33)	1.40	(0.73-2.72)			
20+ years	0.95	(0.52-1.75)	1.73	(0.92-3.27)			
AGE (years)							
18-44	1.00		1.00				
45-64	3.65	(2.02-6.60) ^d	1.30	(0.81-2.09)			
65-74	12.38	(5.72-26.82) ^a	2.50	(1.20-5.20) ^d			
75+	38.68	(9.90-151.17) ^d	2.63	(0.56-12.31)			
GENDER				.,			
Female	1.00		1.00				
Male	1.94	(1.06-3.57) ^e	1.14	(0.68-1.99)			
RACE							
White	1.00		1.00				
Black	1.08	(0.62-1.87)	1.13	(0.65-1.98)			
Other	1.75	(0.77-3.99)	2.19	(0.97-4.98)			
CIGARETTE SMOKING							
Never smoked	1.00		1.00				
Ever smoked	1.03	(0.75-1.41)	0.91	(0.67-1.25)			
HIGH BLOOD PRESSURE							
Never told high	1.00		1.00				
Ever told high	1.12	(0.81-1.56)	1.16	(0.82-1.63)			
HIGH CHOLESTEROL							
Never told high	1.00		1.00				
Ever told high	0.89	(0.65-1.22)	0.72	(0.24-0.99) ⁶			
DIABETES				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
Never told diabetes	1.00		1.00				
Ever told diabetes	1.42	(0.90-2.23)	1.03	(0.63-1.70)			
PAIN MEDICINE USE							
Non-regular use	1.00		1.00				
Regular use	1.13	(0.84-1.53)	1.11	(0.82-1.50)			

Table 23: Adjusted Odds Ratios for Material Hearing Impairment Compared to Non-Material Hearing Impairment by Selected Demographic and Health-Related Characteristics in Michigan of All Interviewed Participants. 2003-2006 (continued)

Offaraotofistios in Wildingan of 7th		nterviewed Farticipants, 2003-2000 (continue			
		Froup A1	Group A2		
	(B	oth Ears)		ither Ear)	
		n=437		n=327	
	AOR	(95% CI) ^c	AOR	(95% CI) ^c	
MILITARY SERVICE					
Never	1.00		1.00		
Ever	1.70	(1.23-2.33)	1.43	$(1.02-2.00)^{\circ}$	
REGULAR HEARING TESTING					
Yes	1.00		1.00		
No	0.74	(0.49-1.12)	1.09	(0.73-1.63)	
HEARING PROTECT DEVICE					
Yes	1.00		1.00		
No	2.02	(1.21-3.36)	1.07	(0.61-1.85)	
INDUSTRY					
Trade/Finance	1.00		1.00		
Agriculture/Forestry	7.98	(0.66-96.63)	0.90	(0.05-17.52)	
Mining	3.82	(0.27-54.38)	1.53	(0.11-21.23)	
Construction	2.38	(0.64-8.88)	0.56	(0.17-1.93)	
Manufacturing	1.54	(0.46-5.12)	0.78	(0.27-2.23)	
Transportation	1.68	(0.39-7.29)	0.48	(0.11-2.04)	
Services	0.94	(0.25-3.55)	0.21	$(0.06-0.77)^{\circ}$	
Public administration	0.78	(0.16-3.70)	0.54	(0.14-2.11)	
OTOTOXIN EXPOSURE					
No	1.00		1.00		
Yes	1.28	(0.95-1.73)	1.29	(0.96-1.75)	
LISTEN TO LOUD MUSIC					
No	1.00		1.00		
Yes	0.63	(0.40-0.98)	0.94	(0.62-1.40)	

Average hearing threshold level at 1000, 2000, 3000 Hertz greater than or equal to 25 decibels.

Average hearing threshold level at 1000, 2000, 3000 Hertz less than 25 decibels (n=438). From generalized logits model, with non-material hearing impairment (Group B) as the referent group for the dependent variable and duration noise exposure (p=0.24), age group (p<0.0001), gender (p=0.10), race (p=0.45), high blood pressure (p=0.67), high cholesterol (p=0.13), diabetes (p=0.22), pain medicine use (p=0.68), smoking (p=0.74), military (p=0.01), regular hearing testing (p=0.19), HPD (p=0.01), industry (p=0.08), ototoxin exposure (p=0.16), and music (p=0.11) as the independent variables.

Statistically significant in the overall multivariate model.

eSignificant 95% confidence intervals in the individual logit model; the 95% confidence interval did not contain 1.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Axelsson A, Clark W. Hearing Conservation Programs for Nonserved Occupations and Populations. Occupational Medicine: State of the Art Reviews. 1995;10:657-662.
- American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine (ACOEM) Evidence-Based Statement: Noise-Induced Hearing Loss. JOEM. 2003:45(6):579-581.
- American Hearing Research Foundation (AHRF) Noise-Induced Hearing Loss.

 Available at: www.american-hearing.org. Accessed November 12, 2008.
- Bergstrom B, Nystrom B. Development of Hearing Loss During Long-Term Exposure to Occupational Noise: A 20-Year Follow-Up Study. Scand Audiol. 1986;15:227-234.
- Bureau of Labor Statistics, Michigan Employment Security Commission. Current Employment Statistics: 1996 Annual Report of Michigan Production/NonSupervisory Workers. Detroit, MI: State of Michigan, Department of Labor, MESC, Bureau of Research and Statistics, Current Employment Statistics Section; 1996.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System: Turning Information into Heath. Available at: www.cdc.gov/brfss. Accessed September 25, 2008.
- Chang NC, Yu ML, Ho KY, Ho CK. Hyperlipidemia in Noise-Induced Hearing Loss. Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery. 2007;137:603-606.
- Criteria for a Recommended Standard: Occupational Noise Exposure. Revised Criteria 1998. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, DHHS (NIOSH) Publication 98-126; 1998.
- Cruickshanks KJ, Klein R, Klein BEK, Wiley TL, Nondhl DM, Tweed TS.
 Cigarette Smoking and Hearing Loss: the Epidemiology of a Hearing Loss
 Study. JAMA. 1998;279:1715-1719.
- Daniel E. Noise and Hearing Loss: A Review. J Sch Health. 2007;77:225-231.

- Davies H, Marion S, Teschke K. The Impact of Hearing Conservation Programs on Incidence of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Canadian Workers. Am J Ind Med. 2008;51:923-931.
- de Moraes LL, Almeida E, Matsuo T. Hypertension as a Factor Associated with Hearing Loss. Rev Bras Otorrinolaringol. 2006:72(4):533-540.
- Department of Defense: Hearing Conservation Program. Washington (DC), U.S. Department of Defense, 2004, instruction 6055.12.
- Dixon Ward W. Endogenous Factors Related to Susceptibility to Damage from Noise. Occupational Medicine: State of the Art Reviews. 1995;10:561-575.
- Hodgson MJ, Talbott E, Helmkamp JC, Kuller LH. Diabetes, Noise Exposure, and Hearing Loss. J Occup Med.1987;29:576-579.
- Ishii EK, Talbott EO. Race/Ethnicity Differences in the Prevalence of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in a Group of Metal Fabricating Workers. JOEM. 1998;40:661-666.
- Institute of Medicine of the National Academies. Noise and Military Service Implications for Hearing Loss and Tinnitus. The National Academies Press. 2006.
- Johnson AC, Nylen PR. Effects of Industrial Solvents on Hearing. Occupational Medicine: State of the Art Reviews. 1995;10:623-640.
- Lees REM and Roberts JH. Noise-Induced Hearing Loss and Blood Pressure. Can Med Assoc J. 1979 May 5;120(9):1082-1084.
- Lethbridge-Cejku M, Vickerie J. Summary Health Statistics for U.S. Adults: National Health Interview Survey 2003. National Center for Health Statistics. Vital Health Statistics. 2005;10.
- Maia CA, Campos CA. Diabetes Mellitus as an Etiological Factor of Hearing Loss. Rev Bras Otorrinolaringol (Engl Ed). 2005;2:208-214.
- Mayo Clinic. Available at: www.mayoclinic.com. Accessed November 20, 2008.
- Morata TC. Hearing Disorders. Occupational and Environmental Health, Recognizing and Preventing Disease and Injury, Fifth Edition. 2005;587-597.
- Morata TC, Lemasters GK. Epidemiologic Considerations in the Evaluation of Occupational Hearing Loss. Occupational Medicine: State of the Art Reviews. 1995;10:641-656.

- Morioka I, Miyashita K, and Takeda S. Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Working Environment and its Background. J Occup Health. 1997;39:5-17.
- Mrena R, Ylikoski J, Kiukaanniemi H, Makitie AA, Savolainen S. The Effect of Improved Hearing Protections Regulations in the Prevention of Military Noise-Induced Hearing Loss. Acta Oto-Laryngologica. 2008;128:997-1003.
- National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. Criteria for a Recommended Standard, Occupational Noise Exposure Revised Criteria 1998. June, 1998, DHHS (NIOSH) Publication No. 98-126.
- National Institute on Deafness and Other Communication Disorders (NIDCD).

 Hearing Loss. Available at: www.nihseniorhealth.gov/hearingloss/toc.html.

 Accessed October 1, 2009.
- NIOSH: NIOSH Program Portfolio: Hearing Loss Prevention. Available at: www.cdc.gov/niosh/programs/hlp/risks.html. Accessed November 20, 2008.
- Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA). Available at: www.osha.gov/Reduction_Act/1218-0048.html. Accessed November 20, 2008.
- Phaneuf R and Hetu R. An Epidemiological Perspective of the Causes of Hearing Loss Among Industrial Workers. J Otolaryngol. 1990;19:31-40.
- Rabinowitz PM, Galusha D, Slade MD, Dixon-Ernst C, O'Neill A, Fiellin M, Cullen MR. Organic Solvent Exposure and Hearing Loss in a Cohort of Aluminum Workers. Occup Environ Med. 2008;65:230-235.
- Rosenhall U, Pedersen KE. Presbycusis and Occupational Hearing Loss. Occupational Medicine: State of the Art Reviews. 1995;10:593-607.
- Rosenhall U, Sundh V. Age-Related Hearing Loss and Blood Pressure. Noise & Health. 2006 Apr-Jun;8(31):88-94.
- Rubak T, Kock S, Koefoed-Nielsen B, Bonde J, and Kolstad H. The Risk of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in the Danish Workforce. Noise and Health. 8.31 (April-June) 2006.
- Stanbury M, Rafferty AP, Rosenman KD. Prevalence of Hearing Loss and Work-Related Noise-Induced Hearing Loss in Michigan. JOEM. 2008:50(1):72-79.

- Sun W, Lu J, Stolzberg D, Gray L, Deng A, Lobarinas E, Saslvi RJ. Salicylate. Increases the Gain of the Central Auditory System. Neuroscience. 2009:159:325-334.
- Toppila E, Pyykko I, Starck J, Kaksonen R, Ishizaki H. Individual Risk Factors in the Development of Noise-Induced Hearing Loss. Noise & Health. 2000;8:59-70.
- van Kempen EE, Kruize H, Boshuizen HC, Ameling CB, Staatsen BAM, de Hollander AEM. The Association Between Noise Exposure and Blood Pressure and Ischemic Heart Disease. A Meta-Analysis. Environ Health Perspect. 2002; 110:307-317.
- Veterans Benefits Administration Annual Benefits Reports for FY2004.

 Washington (DC): U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs; 2005. Available from: www.vba.va.gov/reports.htm. Accessed October 1, 2009.
- Ylikoski, ME. Self-Reported Elevated Blood Pressure in Army Officers with Hearing Loss and Gunfire Noise Exposure. Mil Med. 1995: Aug; 160(8):388-390.

